

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

3-12-2024

Organic Food Supply Chain Efficiency Strategies to Reduce Costs for Local Food Businesses

Tonya Keller Adair Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Tonya Keller Adair

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Janet Booker, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Gwendolyn Dooley, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

Abstract

Organic Food Supply Chain Efficiency Strategies to Reduce Costs for Local Food

Businesses

by

Tonya Keller Adair

MBA, Gardner-Webb University, 2013

BS, Limestone College, 2008

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2024

Abstract

The price of organic foods makes consumers unable to reduce risks of specific health issues, including pesticide-related diseases and allergies. Supply chain managers are concerned that the financial barrier to accessing organic foods can exacerbate nutritional inequalities, particularly affecting communities facing food insecurity. Grounded in the resource dependency theory, the purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore the processes supply chain leaders at four organizations use to supply organic foods to local grocery stores in South Carolina. The data collected from four semistructured interviews were thematically analyzed, resulting in six primary themes: organic certification, food appearance, expensive freight costs, speed of food distribution, labor, and relationships with farmers. A primary recommendation for organic food suppliers is to develop relationships with transit organizations and be creative in the strategies used to transport produce. The implications for positive social change include the potential to reduce organic food production costs to make organic produce less expensive and more attainable to all consumers.

Organic Food Supply Chain Efficiency Strategies to Reduce Costs for Local Food

Businesses

by

Tonya Keller Adair

MBA, Gardner-Webb University, 2013

BS, Limestone College, 2008

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2024

Dedication

This study is dedicated to my two amazing sons, Metz and Creed. You two are my why! Even without knowing, you both gave me the motivation and strength I needed to push through and complete my study. I hope you always pursue your goals no matter what obstacles you face. I love you both so much!

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I want to thank God for my life and for this amazing opportunity to accomplish a goal I never thought was possible. I want to thank my husband, Dustin, for understanding the time this process took away from him. Thank you to my dad, Jerry, for always believing in me and being my shoulder to cry (or complain) on. I would like to thank my sister, Cari, for being my best friend and always being there for me. Thank you to my friends and family who helped me with the boys, prayed for me, listened to me complain, and supported me. Finally, I want to thank my friend and coworker, Renee, who has been my cheerleader and encourager throughout this process. When I felt like giving up, you were there to get me back on track.

List of Tablesv
List of Figuresvi
Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem1
Problem and Purpose1
Population and Sampling2
Nature of the Study2
Research Question
Interview Questions4
Conceptual Framework4
Operational Definitions5
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations5
Assumptions
Limitations6
Delimitations
Significance of the Study7
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature7
RDT
Supply Chain Management
Food Supply Chain
Organic Food25

Table of Contents

Organic Food Supply Chain	
Organic Food Benefits	
Organic Food Pricing	
Transition	
Section 2: The Project	
Purpose Statement	
Role of the Researcher	
Participants	
Research Method and Design	
Research Method	
Research Design	
Population and Sampling	
Ethical Research	41
Data Collection Instruments	
Data Collection Technique	
Data Organization Technique	46
Data Analysis	47
Reliability and Validity	
Reliability	
Validity	
Transition and Summary	
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	

Introduction	52
Presentation of the Findings	52
Theme 1: Organic Certification	53
Theme 2: Food Appearance	
Theme 3: Expensive Freight Costs	55
Theme 4: Speed of Food Distribution	56
Theme 5: Labor	57
Theme 6: Relationships With Farmers	
Applications to Professional Practice	60
Implications for Social Change	60
Recommendations for Action	61
Recommendations for Further Research	63
Reflections	63
Conclusion	64
References	66
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	97
Appendix B: Copyright Approval	98

Table 1. Literature Revie	w Sources	.9
---------------------------	-----------	----

List of Figures

Figure 1. Short Food Supply Chain	24
Figure 2. Business Model Framework for Value Creation	29

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Organic foods offer momentous benefits to the food industry; however, the price of organic foods are significantly higher than conventional foods (Islam & Colonescu, 2019). Many businesses lack strategies to effectively reduce organic food prices, and this price differential makes organic foods inaccessible to many consumers.

Background of the Problem

The food supply chain consists of growing, producing, storing, packaging, distributing, and marketing foods (Champions, 2017). In the organic food supply chain, crops are free of harmful chemicals, including pesticides and fertilizers. Organic farmers face many inefficiencies in the supply chain process, which increases organic food costs (Orsini et al., 2019, p. 808). In September 2021, the average price of organic produce was 36% higher than conventional produce (U.S. Department of Agriculture [USDA], 2021). Determining successful strategies to reduce organic food production costs could increase the accessibility of organic foods. A significant problem in the organic food market is that organic food supply chain leaders often lack effective strategies to reduce organic food production costs.

Problem and Purpose

The specific business problem was that some organic food supply chain leaders lack strategies to reduce organic food production costs. Therefore, the purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore the processes supply chain leaders at four organizations use to supply organic foods to local grocery stores in South Carolina.

Population and Sampling

The target population was four successful organic supply chain leaders that supply food to local grocery stores in South Carolina. This population was appropriate for this study because they could provide effective strategies used to supply food to local grocery stores in large and small sectors. I used purposive sampling to identify supply chain leaders at four organizations who had successfully provided organically grown food to local grocery stores for more than 5 years. The participants received information about the study by email before they took part in semistructured interviews over the phone. In addition to interviews, I reviewed organizational documents from the participants as secondary source data. The goal for this study was to identify supply chain strategies that can be used to help reduce organic food production costs.

Nature of the Study

The three major research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed (Saunders et al., 2016). I used the qualitative method. Qualitative studies provide richer results and are used to explore the subject in a real-life situation and establish meanings through words (Saunders et al., 2016). In a quantitative study, researchers collect statistical data that are processed to be useful and measured objectively to identify the relationships between variables (Firestone, 1987; Saunders et al., 2016). Statistical data are unsuitable for gathering subjective information; therefore, the quantitative method was not appropriate for this study. Mixed methods research integrates at least one qualitative and one quantitative research component (Kansteiner & Konig, 2020), which was not necessary to address the focus of this study. The qualitative methodology was

most appropriate because it allowed me to delve into the efficacious supply chain strategies that successful organic food suppliers have implemented to reduce organic food production costs.

Four common qualitative research designs are pragmatic inquiry, case study research, ethnography, and narrative inquiry (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). I conducted a pragmatic inquiry to determine the strategies the participants used to manage organic food supply efficiently. Ethnography is a process that focuses on society and culture (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016), which would not have contributed to purpose of this study. Researchers use the narrative design for personal storytelling in a chronologic or sequential format (Saunders et al., 2016). Narrative research was not appropriate to address the topic under study because its use would have resulted in a large amount of irrelevant information. With a case study design, a researcher uses a person, group, organization, association, change process, or event to understand the real-life business setting (Saunders et al., 2016). The case study design would not have been effective for this study because the focus was on supply chain strategies across multiple organizations. The pragmatic inquiry method allows researchers to identify specific strategies that industry leaders use (Waibel et al., 2015). Therefore, I expected that the pragmatic inquiry would enable me to understand the strategies and practices of various successful organic food suppliers that have reduced organic food production costs.

Research Question

What strategies do organic food supply chain leaders use to effectively reduce organic food production costs?

Interview Questions

- What strategies do you use that contribute to an increase in the price of organic food production costs when compared to conventional food production costs?
- 2. What transportation strategies have you implemented to minimize the supply chain process?
- 3. What process of the supply chain have you eliminated to increase efficiency?
- 4. What were the key barriers you faced in creating a more efficient supply chain?
- 5. How did you overcome the key challenges that you faced in producing a more efficient supply chain?
- 6. How do you assess the effectiveness of the strategies you use to reduce organic food prices?
- 7. What additional information can you provide on the strategies you have employed to reduce organic food production costs?

Conceptual Framework

I used the resource dependency theory (RDT) as the conceptual framework of this study. Pfeffer and Salancik (1978) developed the RDT, proposing that a business' success relies on the environment and the members of the supply chain (Hofer et al., 2012). The RDT is used to study how retailers and suppliers interact in the environment, and since a company relies on the environment for success, the leader relies on the supply chain members as well (Hofer et al., 2012). The RDT is used to identify the relationship between supply chain members to create more efficiency and lower costs. The theory was relevant to this study because it is used to analyze member relationships, which enabled me to identify the supply chain strategies that participants used to reduce organic food production costs.

Operational Definitions

Organic food: Foods that are produced with fewer, and oftentimes no, chemicals, contaminants, preservatives, antibiotics, or hormones and are more environmentally friendly than conventional food (Ashaolu & Ashaolu, 2020).

Phenomenon: A participant's lived experience and their interpretation of the experience (Saunders et al., 2016).

Resource dependence: When an organization requires specific financial, physical, and informational resources from the environment (Pfeffer & Salancik, 2003).

Retailer: A seller of products to the ultimate consumer that utilizes a business-tocustomer model (Suh, 2021).

Wholesaler: An business that purchases goods in bulk and focuses on a businessto-business model (Suh, 2021).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are concepts that are treated as truths but are not proven and help create a creditable foundation for research (Almasri & McDonald, 2021). I conducted this study under the assumption that successful organic food suppliers would be willing to participate in this study and contribute with honest and thorough answers. Another assumption was that the participants would possess knowledge of the strategies that can reduce organic food production costs.

Limitations

Limitations are possible weaknesses of a study. Identifying limitations allows researchers to better understand the research findings and apply them to the study (Shahriari & Rasuli, 2020). There were multiple limitations of this study. One limitation was that some participants may not have shared thorough supply chain strategies, limiting the accuracy of the data. Another limitation was that the strategies used for one participant may not be successful for other participants. The final limitation identified was that although some businesses may have sufficient supply chain strategies, the costs associated with organic food labeling may prevent a reduction in organic food costs.

Delimitations

Delimitations are used to establish the outlook of the study, share the study's scope, and provide reasoning behind why the researcher set the boundaries of the study as they did (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). The focus of this study was to identify successful supply chain strategies used by organic food suppliers to reduce production costs. The study was delimited to supply chain leaders at four organizations who supply organic foods to local grocery stores in South Carolina. This study did not include organic food suppliers outside of the South Carolina area and did not address why the suppliers choose to sell organic foods. Additionally, this study did not address the supply chain strategies used for conventional foods.

Significance of the Study

This study may contribute to effective business practices because there is currently limited research on organic food supply chain efficiency. Determining the successful supply chain strategies that organic food business leaders have used to reduce production costs may help other food suppliers identify favorable strategies to implement into their practices. Vieira et al. (2013) indicated that although wholesalers manage small organic producers, the perceived value comes from retailers. However, creating efficiency throughout the supply chain can balance out the value perception of retailers, wholesalers, and other supply chain members.

The implications for positive social change include the potential to reduce prices and provide consumers with more access to organic foods, increasing health benefits to residents of local communities served by the food producers. Vigar et al. (2020) found that there was up to a 90% reduction in pesticide metabolites excreted when participants consumed an organic food diet. Human exposure to pesticides causes many health-related issues, including cancer and death (Hassaan & Nemr, 2020). The findings of this study may be used to help establish effective food supply strategies to reduce organic food production costs, allowing businesses to offer healthier options to society.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

I conducted this qualitative study to identify the strategies that successful organic food suppliers use to reduce organic food production costs. In this literature review, I synthesize peer-reviewed articles related to the topic under study. The purpose of this literature review was to demonstrate how the professional and academic literature found is relevant to the current study's conceptual framework and research topic. The literature review process assists in finding gaps in the current literature, allowing the researcher to fully understand and clarify the topic by interpreting and synthesizing data and reinforce the conceptual framework before interpreting their findings (Leite et al., 2019). Conducting this literature review provided me with a deeper understanding of the topic and conceptual framework to better interpret the data collected in the study.

This literature review includes an exhaustive evaluation of articles relating to the RDT and alternative conceptual theories, supply chain management, food supply chain, organic food supply chain, and organic food pricing. I utilized the RDT to examine the relationships between supply chain members and identify strategies used to create a more efficient and effective supply chain. The criteria used to select appropriate data for this study included sources that are peer reviewed; published in 2018 or later; and related to RDT, supply chain management, organic food, and the organic food supply chain.

I searched for the literature in the following databases and search engines accessible through the Walden University Library: ScienceDirect, Emerald Insight, Gale Academic OneFile Select, Business Search Complete, and Google Scholar. I expanded my search further by utilizing data from the USDA. The most common keywords and phrases used in my searches were *resource dependency theory*, *supply chain management*, *organic food supply chain*, *organic food benefits*, and *organic food prices*. I expanded my research on the RDT by also searching for alternative conceptual framework theories, including the *transaction cost economics theory* and *social exchange theory*. This literature review includes 81 peer-reviewed journal articles from the 167 articles that I read. Of the articles that are included in this review, 89% of them were published within the past 5 years.

Table 1

	Literature 1	Review	Sources
--	--------------	--------	---------

Literature type	Older than 5 years	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	Total#	Total%
Peer-reviewed articles	12	9	9	22	8	19	2	81	87%
Non-peer-reviewed	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0%
articles									
Books	4	0	0	0	1	0	0	5	5%
Other	5	0	1	1	0	0	0	7	8%
Total	21	9	10	23	9	19	2	93	100%
Total sources published within 5 years					72	89%			

The outcome of this search process resulted in seven main categories and four subcategories that I use to present and discuss the literature in this section. The subject categories are RDT, supply chain management, food supply chain, organic foods, organic food supply chain, organic food benefits, and organic food pricing. The subcategories include RDT constructs, alternative conceptual framework theories, green supply chain management, short food supply chain, and direct food supply chain. This research process allowed me to further understand my topic and identify any gaps in the current literature, supporting the need for conducting this study.

RDT

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore the strategies organic food supply chain leaders, selling to grocery stores and farmers' markets, use to

reduce organic food production costs. It is helpful to understand member relationships to identify and interpret the supply chain strategies used. Using the RDT, I analyzed supply chain member relationships to determine successful supply chain strategies. Pfeffer and Salancik (1978) established the RDT, positing that organizations must rely on their environment to survive. In constructing and managing a firm's strategy, organizational leaders must identify how their firm is affected by external constraints, including outside resources (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978). In this section, I establish the effectiveness of the RDT as it pertained to this study.

Established in 1973, the RDT is a commonly used theory for strategic management and is one of the most dominant organizational theories (Hillman et al., 2009). According to the RDT, an organization needs resources and must interact with the external environment to obtain resources and be successful (Celik, 2020). Using the RDT, organizational leaders can analyze the effect that external resources have on the firm and adjust, if necessary, the amount of dependence (Hillman et al., 2009). Identifying the impact that dependency has on a firm can allow organizational leaders to establish an equitable relationship and create a healthy balance among organizational dependencies, which is critical for success.

Researchers have found the RDT helpful in studying the relationships between supply chain members to identify a strategy to increase efficiency. The premise of the RDT is that to understand an organization, its surroundings must also be understood (Pfeffer & Salancik, 2003). The RDT provides a foundation to help comprehend the relationship between an organization, its members, and the environment (Drees & Heugens, 2013). Using the RDT, organizational leaders can manage the internal and external environment, including the interdependence of resources (Hillman et al., 2009). Typically, the amount of dependence dictates the significance of the relationship (Sutton et al., 2021). Industry members must manage this relationship properly to create an efficient environment and gain a competitive advantage.

Most organizations are not entirely self-sufficient on their own because they typically lack all the resources needed to be successful; instead, organizations usually thrive when entrenched in a multiorganizational environment (Pfeffer & Salancik, 2003). For example, Mwai et al. (2014) interviewed 38 library staff workers from four major public universities and found that resources are an indicator of strength and power, resulting in a network of mutually dependent organizations. Pfeffer and Salancik (2003) asserted that organizations must acquire and maintain resources to survive and succeed. When the need for a resource escalates, and the availability of substitutes declines, an organization's resource dependence will increase (Sutton et al., 2021). The RDT can provide firms with a framework to strategically govern these organizational resources to ensure balance and stability (Sowe, 2019). Although resources are necessary and beneficial, business leaders should strive for balance to refrain from being wholly dependent on other organizations.

To remain competitive, business leaders must integrate both the internal and external environment. The RDT is an influential organizational behavior theory that assists in identifying limitations both in and outside the organization (Murphree & Anderson, 2018). When organizational leaders can focus on their core competencies and outsource the areas where they are less efficient, there is an opportunity to reduce risks and increase production (Mwai et al., 2014). When deciding on outsourcing, it is imperative to focus on the organization's long-term needs to help fill in the gaps in its abilities (Bass & Chakrabarty, 2014; Mwai et al., 2014). As with any business operation, the supply chain process will be more effective when organizational leaders execute functions they do well and rely on partners for those they perform inadequately.

Some researchers and organizational leaders view the RDT as an ineffective operational theory. One critique is that using RDT creates an organization with inefficient internal resources, leading to an unbalanced dependency on partners (Teryokhin & Hannas, 2018). In contrast, Chamchong (2019) analyzed surveys from 881 local government bodies in northeast Thailand and contended that possessing vital resources within organizations enables competitive advantage and develops partnerships with other dependent organizations. Additionally, most RDT members often cultivate a mutually dependent relationship, which is present when there is interdependency in resources between an organization and its suppliers (Drees & Heugens, 2013). A significant benefit to this reciprocal supply chain relationship is that members can pool together their strengths to serve the consumers better.

A common hesitation in utilizing the RDT is the uncertainty that may come with depending on outside sources. Researchers often assume that organizations face more uncertainty as they become more dependent on resources (Sutton et al., 2021). Pfeffer and Salancik (2003) countered that potential complications of RDT did not derive from being dependent on the environment but instead from an environment that is not

dependable. To combat an unreliable environment, members must establish various strategies to reduce dependency while also developing an environment with highly accessible resources (Pu et al., 2020). Supply chain managers must control their environment by balancing the help they receive from outside resources with their internal resources (Sowe, 2019). Furthermore, leaders can use the RDT to curtail organizational uncertainty by adequately managing the member relationships to reduce dependencies (Basar et al., 2020). By focusing on an organization's strengths while not being fully reliant on partnerships, organizational leaders may use the RDT to create a business environment that operates efficiently and effectively.

RDT Constructs

A theoretical construct is a conclusion drawn from a theory; however, it usually cannot be observed (Dixon & Johnston, 2019). At a minimum, a construct is identified by conducting high-quality observations (Witte et al., 2022). Because measuring constructs is inferential, researchers commonly assess constructs using questionnaire-based methods (Dixon & Johnston, 2019). Power relations, interdependence, and diversification are three concepts generally inferred when gathering research through the lens of the RDT (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978; Chen, 2019). Identifying these three constructs can allow the researcher to analyze the relationships within the supply chain relationship.

Measuring the amount of dependence and power that one organization has on the other is frequently discussed in the RDT. Some researchers have argued that organizations depend too heavily on other companies, creating a power imbalance (Yeh et al., 2020). Because organizations depend on resources to survive and some are controlled by external companies, leaders must manage the amount of organizational power to acquire these pertinent resources (Kholmuminov et al., 2019; Yeh et al., 2020). Organizational leaders should obtain resources from multiple organizations to combat an imbalanced power relationship and alleviate dependency concerns (Jones et al., 2020). Additionally, organizational leaders should focus on decreasing their dependence on other companies while also increasing the amount of dependence from external organizations (Chu et al., 2019). Providing resources to other organizations can establish a foundation of power, and effectively managing the power relationship is crucial in maintaining a proper balance of power throughout the supply chain.

Interdependency is also a frequently mentioned construct in the RDT. Interdependency exists when firms have mutual dependence (Hossain et al., 2020). A mutual dependency is present when each organization maintains critical resources that the other needs (Tripathi, 2021). Organizations must create interdependence to obtain power and be successful (Chen, 2019). Greater interdependence reduces the risk of opportunistic behavior among partners and increases the level of trust (Xiao et al., 2019). Interdependency is an integral component of the RDT because it promotes a balanced relationship between supply chain members.

Diversification is a third construct regularly discussed in the RDT. To achieve diversification, organizational leaders enlarge their operations by adding additional external resources to decrease the dependence on current suppliers (Khurana & Farhat, 2021; Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978). Diversification is a great tactic when there is an imbalance of power and organizational leaders want to reduce their dependencies (Celik, 2020). In addition to bettering an organization's balance of power position, diversifying the supply chain can also decrease the organization's vulnerability (Nagy & Nguyen, 2021). Diversification stands to have a major impact on the firm's survival, requiring a highly strategic plan of action (Khurana & Farhat, 2021). Creating a strategy to diversify the supply chain demands extensive preparation but can be significantly beneficial to the organization and the supply chain as a whole.

Chen (2019) suggested that diversification is typically an outcome of managing interdependence within the organization. Organizational leaders can manage their interdependence by providing demanding and limited resources and identifying those resources in external suppliers (Celik, 2020). The RDT provides a foundation to manage power relations, interdependence, and diversification adequately (Hillman et al., 2009). The RDT has been shown to be an effective lens for enabling organizational leaders to properly manage their external relationships (Sherer et al., 2019). In the current study, I applied the RDT as a lens through which to view supply chain relationships to identify strategies that organic food supply chain leaders use to reduce organic food production costs.

Alternative Theories

The transaction cost economics (TCE) theory and social exchange theory (SET) are two alternative theories that may be constructive in supply chain research. The TCE theory combines economics and organization theory, identifying the costs associated with organizational exchanges (Williamson, 1979). TCE theory is one of the most common organization theories that supply chain researchers utilize (Ketokivi & Mahoney, 2020).

Researchers use the TCE theory to determine whether the cost of producing a product is higher or lower than the cost of purchasing from external firms (Sgroi & Sciancalepore, 2022). The TCE theory also helps researchers determine the best governance structure for their organization regarding transaction costs (Marjosola, 2021). Identifying the costs associated with all decisions is crucial when designing an organization's strategic plan.

Two primary sources of costs associated with the TCE include the firms' invested asset specificity and invested partner opportunity (Lee, 2022). The view of asset specificity as it pertains to the TCE theory assumes that it is costly and challenging to reorganize assets outside of their original purpose (Liu et al., 2018). The potential costs associated with invested partners arise when an organization's partners behave opportunistically due to a high level of asset specificity (Lee, 2022; Williamson, 1979). Business leaders can analyze these costs to create a proper balance of exchanges within the organization.

Using the TCE theory allows an organization to examine its transactions and the associated costs. It is important to note that exchanges occur both internally and externally when analyzing economic transactions (Ketokivi & Mahoney, 2020). One primary goal of the TCE theory is to reduce organizational production costs (Yeh et al., 2020). Reducing production costs is typically an effective strategy; however, the RDT contrarily emphasizes appropriating resources to maximize organizational value (Yeh et al., 2020). Although the TCE theory can be beneficial in identifying costs that arise from conducting transactions, the RDT was more appropriate for the current study because it focuses on necessary relationships between firms to create supply chain efficiency.

Another theory used to research the supply chain is the SET. In the SET, Blau (1964) postulated that an individual's effort is influenced by what they expect in return from another individual. The initial purpose of the SET was to understand human behavior during the exchange of resources, and it now provides researchers with greater insight into why supply chain members collaborate and how their relationship changes over time (Saglam et al., 2022). The foundation of the SET focuses on the reciprocal relationship between an individual and their organization (Kemp et al., 2021). Researchers have anticipated that individuals feel compelled to repay their organization and its members in an equal exchange (Garba et al., 2018). When researching the supply chain, applying the SET to understand the give-and-take relationship between its members can be beneficial.

The SET helps researchers identify the relationship between supply chain members and the amount of effort they are willing to exert. Researchers who use SET as a lens find that individuals' behavior centers around the cost versus the reward of the outcome (Kemp et al., 2021). Saglam et al. (2022) surveyed 156 managers from manufacturing firms in Turkey and found that when applied to the supply chain specifically, the SET demonstrates a collaborative and committed relationship between supply chain members when there is reciprocity. The reciprocation and fulfillment of expectations within the supply chain relationship help establish trust between members (Liu et al., 2018). While the SET may be complementary and work well with the RDT, this study requires more understanding of the exchange of resources rather than focusing on the relationships between supply chain members, rendering RDT a more effective framework.

Supply Chain Management

Effective supply chain management produces the availability of high-quality products in a timely manner. The supply chain process includes all related activities in moving and transforming raw materials from manufacturers and processors to the hands of the end user (Huang, 2022; Nagy-Bota & Moldovan, 2022). In addition to moving products from producer to customer, supply chain management allows organizational members to frequently contact transport, warehousing, and distribution departments (Nagy-Bota, 2022). Increasing interorganizational communication can strengthen the organization as a whole.

Along with creating a stable organization, the relationships in the supply chain network should be strong. One supply chain member can affect other members, both directly and indirectly (Aljabhan & Abeyie, 2022). Supply chain management allows organizational members to improve their relationships with suppliers and customers, which enhances performance, competitiveness, and customer satisfaction (Saad et a., 2022). The partnerships within a supply chain allow organization members to add value to customers and be more responsive to their needs (Muangmee et al., 2022). Value creation is a major component of a successful supply chain.

When creating a supply chain strategy, it is imperative to incorporate sufficient coordination throughout the entire process. Coordinating the flow of materials, services, and information creates efficiency and can add value to the supply chain (Collier &

Evans, 2021; Xie et al., 2022). Implementing effective coordination is critical in the operation of a supply chain (Teryokhin & Hannas, 2018). It takes specialized skills to manage this process and move materials and products efficiently.

Supply chain management is a significant contributor to an organization's performance. Managers should regulate the supply chain strictly, as any component can potentially influence the health of the entire supply chain as well as the organization (Gautam et al., 2017; Wong et al., 2020). An inaccuracy or blunder within the supply chain stands to affect all members, both positively and negatively. Additionally, the supply chain process can impact an organization's revenue, assets, and costs (Madhani, 2022). A decrease in revenue combined with an increase in costs can be detrimental to a firm and the health of the supply chain. Properly managing an organization, its resources, and its suppliers can lead to an increase in performance and is pivotal for success.

Business leaders should understand how impactful supply chain management is to an organization. Supply chain management is an immeasurable business framework and is essential for every organization (Nagy-Bota, 2022). Typically, there is some flexibility of the supply chain in terms of lead time and production time, rate, and process (Sarkar & Chung, 2020). Supply chain management practices influence the flexibility and productivity of an organization and can assist leaders in obtaining a competitive advantage (Saad et al., 2022). Most organizational leaders strive to maintain a competitive advantage and increase performance.

Supply chain management enables organizational leaders to create and monitor relationships with suppliers to obtain external resources. Organizations that utilize a

multi-tier supply chain are in some way dependent on their suppliers (Kim et al., 2022). Further, organizations that do not have sufficient resources also develop a dependency on the organizations that maintain them (Teryokhin & Hannas, 2018). Researchers can view supply chain management from the RDT lens to help facilitate and manage these dependencies and create a mutually beneficial relationship between supply chain members.

The green movement has become increasingly popular over the last several years. Some consumers feel organizations are responsible for adopting green practices to restore the health of the environment (Singh & Misra, 2022). With the constant expansion of industrial activities and economic development throughout the world, environmental pollution and deteriorating conditions are increasing problems (Huang, 2022; Singh & Misra, 2022). In the supply chain alone, many factors are the cause of concern; toxic wastes, water pollution, water scarcity, and air quality are a few significant matters (Muangmee et al., 2022). Many organizations are moving to more green options in terms of supply chain management to combat these concerns and improve environmental conditions.

Green supply chain management incorporates techniques to sustain economic development. A green supply chain embodies environmentally friendly tactics in areas such as design, manufacturing, and transportation (Singh & Misra, 2022). Applying green practices to manufacturing and reverse logistics improves greenhouse gas emissions by 37.7% (Tsui, 2019). Research also shows that organizations implementing a green supply chain are often more efficient and transcend economically (Singh & Misra, 2022;

Latukha et al., 2019). Implementing green supply chain practices stand to benefit both the organization and the environment.

Organizational leaders must obtain and maintain relationships with suppliers who use green supply chain management practices to facilitate a green supply chain properly. All suppliers in a green supply chain must apply green techniques to every aspect of the supply chain, such as designing, purchasing, transporting, and managing waste (Maaz et al., 2022). Building relationships with green suppliers can sometimes be challenging due to the increased cost associated with the green supply chain, leaving some suppliers to focus more on profit rather than green practices (Kim et al., 2022). Contrarily, Maaz et al. (2022) surveyed 139 plant-level managers of food processing firms in India and found that adopting green supply chain practices and using green suppliers is associated with increased economic and operational performance. Researchers can apply the RDT to green supply chain management to manage the relationships between suppliers throughout the supply chain to ensure green conduct (Kim et al., 2022). Green behavior throughout the entire supply chain process will ensure that all green supply chain management practices are present.

Food Supply Chain

The food supply chain can be an extremely complex system due to the many steps that must occur to get food from the producer to the consumer. The food industry is one of the most crucial and complicated aspects of the global economy as it is essential for survival and is in high demand (Solarz et al., 2023). The food supply chain consists of farming, processing, transporting, and distributing foods (Bhat et al., 2022). Because of the intricacy of the supply chain, the cost of sales can increase by 50% to 80%, with further impact from political, financial, and environmental matters (Myerson, 2012). To create efficiency and reduce costs, the food supply chain requires competent function and management.

Effective supply chain management is essential for most businesses to succeed and is just as crucial for the food industry. In the food supply chain, perishable items move from the farm to the consumer (Patidar et al., 2022). This dynamic supply chain is typically time- and temperature-sensitive and requires reliable storage, handling, and distribution to maintain food quality (Chen et al., 2018; Patidar et al., 2022). Food supply chain management involves coordinating activities between farmers, suppliers, warehouses, and retailers (Harsasi & Minrohayati, 2017). In addition to coordinating these processes, a sufficient temperature is necessary to protect food quality and reduce food waste (Bremer, 2018; Patidar et al., 2022). Due to the nature of food and the everchanging environment, food supply chain managers must continuously monitor the supply chain and implement different strategies to create efficiency.

Although food consumption is indispensable to meeting human need requirements, the food supply chain can be a convoluted process. The food supply chain is vulnerable to failure due to the long network of processes and the sensitivity to speed (Zhong et al., 2017; Garnett et al., 2020). Further, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there is more stress on the entire food supply chain process, causing sustainability issues (Erokhin & Gao, 2020; Michel-Villarreal, 2023). It is imperative that supply chain members identify a solution to create efficiency in the movement of food products. One strategy that has been successful in increasing sustainability in the food industry is implementing a short food supply chain. In a short food supply chain, the distance between the farmer and the consumer is shorter, and there are fewer intermediaries throughout the process (Lucia, 2020). Lucia (2020) illustrated the definition of an short food supply chain as adapted from Galli and Brunori (2012; see Figure 1). The short food supply chain allows the consumer to connect more directly with the producer (Bosotto et al., 2023). The short food supply chain creates value throughout the supply chain network by allowing the farmers, distributors, and sellers to customize the structure at different stages (Mahroof et al., 2022). Creating value, reducing supply chain length, and increasing the speed of food transportation are all beneficial to stakeholders and can be outcomes of a shorter food supply chain.

Figure 1

Short Food Supply Chain



Note. The meaning of "short."

Implementing a short food supply chain can be very advantageous not only for the food industry but for consumers as well. Utilizing a short food supply chain commonly results in an increased profit for the producer and a decreased consumer purchasing price (Al-Masri Aoudi et al., 2022). Since shortening the food supply chain can result in reduced costs, the lower pricing allows organic food products to be accessible to customers, leading to the consumption of a healthier diet (Jarzebowski et al., 2020). In addition to the health benefits, a growing number of consumers prefer to purchase locally grown foods (Solarz et al., 2023). By removing intermediaries, the short food supply chain allows consumers to go directly to the farmer and purchase fresh, local produce (Al-Masri Aoudi et al., 2022). Utilizing a short food supply chain provides outstanding
benefits to the organization, supply chain, and consumers and is a great strategy to implement when appropriate.

Organic Food

Food is one of the fundamental needs for human survival. As economic conditions and living standards improve, consumers seek higher-quality, healthier foods (Liu et al., 2020). The increased demand for healthier foods led to the rise of the organic food movement. The initial purpose of organic farming was to cultivate and conserve the soil while also offsetting the effects of the industrialization of agriculture; however, reducing synthetic pesticide and fertilizer exposure quickly became a contributing force in the organic movement (Brantsaeter et al., 2017). Organic foods are an excellent option for providing health benefits, feeding humans, and conserving the environment.

There are extensive criteria that are necessary to meet to produce certified organic food. To maintain organic farming requirements, farmers cannot treat the land with synthetic pesticides, chemical fertilizers, or herbicides for three years prior to growing crops (Das et al., 2020). Crops must be grown without synthetic pesticides, fertilizers, or sewage sludge (Ashaolu & Ashaolu, 2020). In addition to crops, organic farm animals must consume a certified organic food diet free of animal by-products, synthetic hormones, and antibiotics (Ashaolu & Ashaolu, 2020). Organic food and farming requirements ensure that the food goes through all the proper steps throughout the entire process to maintain high quality, toxin-free food.

To enhance and maintain the organic farming process, the International Federation of Organic Agriculture Movements (IFOAM) has identified four principles of organic food production. The four basic principles; care, health, ecology, and fairness; should be practiced in organic agriculture's farming, processing, and distribution (IFOAM, 1998). The principle of care is a precautionary standard designed to protect the health and well-being of the environment and the people in it (IFOAM, 1998). The principle of health states that organic farming should sustain and enhance the health of the soil, crops, livestock, and humans (IFOAM, 1998). Regarding ecology, organic farming should emulate and support cyclical living systems (IFOAM, 1998). Finally, IFOAM (1998) asserts that organic farming builds on fairness within relationships between farmers, workers, processors, distributors, and consumers. Although these guidelines might appear excessive and time-consuming, they ensure proper standards in organic foods.

Foods that meet all USDA certified organic standards receive the USDA organic seal on their label. The USDA organic seal guarantees that at least 95% of the product ingredients are organic (USDA, n.d.b). The USDA National Organic Program conducts more than 45,000 onsite inspections annually to ensure that all organic crops, livestock, and agricultural products are within USDA organic regulations (USDA, n.d.b). These are all additional steps that may increase the cost of organic foods; however, they offer peace of mind in knowing that you are consuming safer products.

Organic Food Supply Chain

The conventional food supply chain moves foods that contain chemical fertilizers, pesticides, and herbicides, as well as products from animals that are given antibiotics and growth hormones, from producer to consumer. Conventional farming is prevalent

worldwide because of the lower costs associated with farming and throughout the supply chain (Sazvar et al., 2018). However, conventional food supply chains are decreasing in demand due to the fertilizers and pesticides used, which effect the food safety and quality (Jayalath et al., 2022). There are many agricultural and social benefits to organic production. Organic farming can reduce soil pollution, preserve soil nutrients, lessen pest and disease resistance in the soil, provide better employment, and improve public health (Sazvar et al., 2018). Because of these benefits, the organic food supply chain is growing in popularity.

The organic food supply chain works similarly to the conventional food supply chain; however, the entire process must meet specific standards identified by the USDA. The steps to meet the USDA requirements include using organic processes in the farming and handling system, conducting exhaustive inspections and audits of the production and handling operations, and implementing traceback systems that ensure organic products are being used from both farm to market and market to farm (McEvoy, 2017). In addition to maintaining strict requirements, seasonal and highly perishable organic foods move through the supply chain in climate-sensitive conditions (Dovleac, 2016). A successful organic food supply chain requires attention to detailed guidelines, precise planning and operations, and quick response to members, suppliers, and customers.

The organic food supply chain operates both domestically and globally. Most organic foods originate in developing countries, with Asia and Africa being the largest organic producers in the world (Ali et al., 2021; Das et al., 2020). However, these developing countries only account for approximately 10% of organic food consumption (Ali et al., 2021). Many developing countries, specifically in Africa, produce organic foods solely for the export market (Brantsaeter et al., 2017). Although this is advantageous for both the importing and exporting countries, the distance that the food travels and the required human resources can be a significant challenge in the organic food supply chain (Dovleac, 2016). To offset these challenges, it is crucial to have structure, coordination, and collaboration throughout the global supply chain process.

As stated above, organic food supply chain members often encounter many obstacles. One major barrier is that organic farming can be considered inefficient in producing food globally (Reganold & Wachter, 2016). The cost of organic foods may increase due to these inefficiencies. Ali et al. (2021) surveyed 335 Chinese university students who consume organic foods and found that although customers want to consume organic foods for health benefits, the high price can decrease the frequency and quantity of organic food purchases. It is imperative to implement appropriate value creation processes to develop an organic food supply chain that is successful, sustainable, and responsive to consumer needs (Mili & Arfa, 2020). However, Dovleac (2016) found that creating a value chain in the organic food market can be quite challenging. Figure 2 illustrates a business model framework consisting of resources, partners, activities, customers, and channels, that has been successful in value creation processes that promote long-lasting economic, social, and cultural impacts (Mili & Arfa, 2020). Adopting this framework may help strengthen the global organic food supply chain, increasing food production, distribution, and purchasing. Additionally, utilizing the

resource dependency theory can further strengthen the organic food supply chain by

creating a balance in organic food resources.

Figure 2

Business Model Framework for Value Creation



Note. Adapted from "Uncovering value creation factors in organic food supply chains," by S. Mili and I. Arfa, 2020, *International Journal on Food Systems Dynamics*, *11*(5), 503–521. (<u>https://doi.org/10.18461/ijfsd.v11i5.70</u>). Creative Commons License 2020. Reprinted with permission.

One strategy to combat some of the issues associated with the organic food supply chain is to utilize a direct distribution channel for organic food. The direct food supply chain bypasses the traditional supply chain and goes directly from the farm to the consumer (Jayalath et al., 2022). Direct food supply chain sales may occur at a farmers' market, farm shop, or home delivery (Jayalath et al., 2022). Managing the supply chain for perishable products can be highly challenging. Because organic foods have a shorter shelf life, the direct food supply chain allows for perishable foods to get to the consumer more timely, decreasing the amount of food waste (Chen & Chen, 2021). The direct food supply chain is an excellent option for distributing organic foods on a smaller scale.

Organic Food Benefits

There are a multitude of benefits to growing and consuming organic foods. Studies have shown that conventional foods are grown using pesticides, nitrates, heavy metals, hormones, antibiotics, and genetically modified organisms, resulting in adverse health effects (Das et al., 2020). Since organic foods are grown more naturally, they contain fewer toxins and contaminants and are typically fresher because they do not contain as many preservatives (Ashaolu & Ashaolu, 2020). In addition to the compositional differences, organic foods reduce the likelihood of antibiotic resistance and lessen pesticide exposure from 38% to only 7% (Fung, 2015). One major benefit of pesticides is that they keep bugs and animals away from the crops. Aside from finding an alternate method to keep insects away, there do not appear to be any adverse effects of removing these contaminants from the farming process.

Organic foods are grown in a manner that bypasses many chemicals and toxins and provides humans with healthier food options that help reduce detrimental health effects. In a study by Baudry et al. (2018), results showed a positive correlation between participants who consumed high amounts of organic foods and a decreased risk of cancer, with a substantially lower risk of developing non-Hodgkin lymphoma and postmenopausal breast cancer. Studies have also found that organic foods reduce the risk of infertility, congenital disabilities, pre-eclampsia, allergic reactions, and ear infections (Vigar et al., 2020). These health issues can be devastating to an individual and their family. It is incredible to see the difference and positive impact of organic food consumption on human health.

Organic products provide many health benefits, but organic farming also contributes to environmental sustainability. Growing crops organically can reduce pollution, preserve water, enhance soil fertility, and reduce energy use (Ashaolu & Ashaolu, 2020). Preserving our water, soil, and the air is necessary for our planet to thrive. Organic farming also has been shown to have fewer greenhouse gas emissions (Brantsaeter et al., 2017). Any reduction in the release of gasses into the atmosphere is beneficial to the environment and our health.

Organic Food Pricing

There is a significant difference in the price of organic versus conventional foods. While most consumers purchase organic foods for health reasons, the price is often a barrier to consumer buying behavior (Ismael & Ploeger, 2020). Mather et al. (2005) found that although most consumers do not want to ingest genetically modified organisms, the price differential will result in a competitive advantage for conventional foods, reducing organic food consumption. The lower price and competitive edge of conventional foods make marketing organic products a major hurdle (Srinieng & Thapa, 2018). Failure to market organic foods properly may lead to an even lower share of the total food market.

As with most products, a high price premium can reduce the affordability and accessibility of the items. Research has shown that the price of the global organic food market is five times as high as the conventional food market (Dangi et al., 2020; Schlatter et al., 2020). Kittredge (n.d.) found a significant price differential of conventional versus organic eggs. While there is a \$.57 increase in organic eggs purchased from a farmers' market, there is a \$2.34 increase in organic eggs purchased from a grocery store (Kittredge, n.d.). This 93.6% increase in the cost of organic eggs can be detrimental to the organic egg industry and push consumers to purchase conventionally processed eggs.

Producing and supplying organic food can require an articulate, skilled, and speedy workforce. Pawlewicz (2020) found that the manufacturing process of organic products is expensive, lengthy, and labor intensive, resulting in elevated prices. While organic farming is more labor-intensive than conventional farming and requires faster supply chain movement due to the absence of preservatives, the 20%–100% price differential seems excessive (Ashaolu & Ashaolu, 2020). These extreme price differences will make it arduous for the organic food market to succeed. However, appropriate supply chain management and strategic planning can create solutions to reduce costs (Sazvar et al., 2018). The goal of writing this doctoral study is to identify the driving contributors to the substantial price premium of organic foods and analyze the strategies that successful organic food supply chain leaders use to allow the organic food market to compete with conventional foods.

Transition

I conducted this study to identify and analyze strategies used by successful organic food suppliers to decrease organic food production costs. In Section I, I introduced the background, problem, purpose, nature, and significance of the study. The population was determined, the research and interview questions (see Appendix A) were provided, and the conceptual framework was established. The operational definitions were specified, and the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations were assessed. Section I concluded with a review of the literature.

In Section 2, I begin by restating the purpose statement. I also include information on the role of the researcher, participants, population and sampling, research method and design, data collection, and reliability and validity. I conclude Section 2 with a transition and summary. In Section 3, I present my findings, apply the findings to professional practice, identify implications for social change, offer recommendations for action and further research, and reflect on the research process.

Section 2: The Project

The participants in this study were successful supply chain leaders at four organizations that supply organic foods to local grocery stores in South Carolina. Findings from this study may be valuable to organic food suppliers who have difficulty reducing organic food production costs. In Section 2, I describe how this study was conducted, including a reiteration of the purpose statement; a thorough analysis of my role as the researcher; and a discussion of the participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research requirements, data collection instruments and processes, data organization technique, data analysis, and study reliability and validity before concluding the section with a transition and summary.

Purpose Statement

The specific business problem was that some organic food supply chain leaders lack strategies to reduce organic food production costs. Therefore, the purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore the processes supply chain leaders at four organizations use to supply organic foods to local grocery stores in South Carolina.

Role of the Researcher

I was the primary instrument to collect data for this doctoral study. The role of the qualitative researcher is to act as the research instrument to interact with the study's participants, collect data, and interpret the findings (Karagiozis, 2018). It is also important that the researcher be sensitive to and respectful of the participants' rights (Karagiozis, 2018). My role as the researcher included analyzing and interpreting the data

I collected from virtual, semistructured interviews with food suppliers that supply organic foods to grocery stores in South Carolina.

Although I am a customer of several participants, I did not have a personal relationship with them. As a researcher, I had to maintain ethical standards while gathering the data for this study. Qualitative researchers should view ethics as a component of the relationship between themselves and the research (Roth & von Unger, 2018). To guarantee ethical standards were upheld throughout the study, I adhered to the *Belmont Report* protocol because it provides a guideline for producing ethical research when using human subjects. I followed the three fundamental principles of the *Belmont Report* protocol: respect for persons, beneficence, and justice (see Adashi et al., 2018). This separation of knowledge and experience of the participants, combined with the *Belmont Report* principles, ensured that the current study was conducted ethically.

Bias is possible throughout the research process, including during the recruiting, data collecting, and results reporting stages (Marshall et al., 2021). To ensure reliability and mitigate bias, I used triangulation, member checking, and open-ended interview questions and interviewed participants until data saturation was reached. Triangulation allows researchers to measure data from different sources and is an established and trustworthy means of reaching validity (Farquhar et al., 2020; Yin, 2008). Researchers use triangulation to reduce bias, enabling them to view data from multiple sources. Researchers use member checking to ask for participants' feedback on the interpretation of data, which can improve the quality and reliability of the study (Motulsky, 2021). In

this study, participants were able to review my data interpretation and offer feedback, which enabled me to mitigate any bias.

I followed the interview protocol (see Appendix A) for each interview. Once the participant consented to take part in the study, I began asking interview questions in a recorded setting. The interview questions were structured in an open-ended format to promote sufficient answers and discussion. Open-ended interview questions encourage the participant to provide lists, short answers, or detailed narratives instead of "yes" or "no" answers (Weller et al., 2018). Open-ended interview questions allowed participants to give thorough and specific answers, mitigating for the chance for bias.

Qualitative researchers should continue with interviews until data saturation, which is accomplished when no new themes or patterns arise from additional interviews, is attained (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I reached data saturation through triangulation, member checking, and open-ended interview questions. These techniques allowed for the collection of reliable, valid, and bias-free data.

Participants

To be included in this study, participants had to meet the following eligibility requirements: have successfully offered organic foods for a minimum of 5 years and must supply organic foods to grocery stores in South Carolina. The participants were recruited using the purposive sampling strategy. Purposive sampling produces rich data that focuses on a particular topic (Ames et al., 2019). To gain access to participants, I identified potential organizations that aligned with the eligibility requirements, contacted them by phone, email, or in person, and obtained their willingness to participate in the study. To identify potential organizations, I utilized Chamber of Commerce directories, internet searches, and personal recommendations-

I obtained approval from Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) before contacting prospective participants. Once the IRB granted permission to conduct the study, I spoke to a supply chain manager from each organic food supplier to determine their willingness to participate. Those that agreed to take part in the study then scheduled a time for their interview. Establishing a working relationship and building rapport with each participant is crucial, even before the interview (McGrath et al., 2019). I ensured each participant that all of their answers would remain confidential and that they could withdraw from the study at any time. Additionally, I built rapport by researching the participant to show my interest in their organization and ensure a biasfree interpretation of the data.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

The research methodology can have a big impact on the design and results of a study. There are three major research methods: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed (Saunders et al., 2016). Researchers use qualitative studies to provide richer results, explore the subject in a real-life situation, and establish meanings through words (Saunders et al., 2016). Qualitative research results in data that are not quantified but observed from the participants' account of a phenomenon (Serra-Aracil et al., 2022). Researchers can help outsiders understand unfamiliar experiences by providing qualitative data (Ehrmin & Pierce, 2021). The qualitative methodology was most

appropriate for this study because it allowed me to delve into the efficacious supply chain strategies that successful organic food suppliers have implemented to reduce organic food production costs.

Quantitative research is another methodology that can be used to gather data. Quantitative researchers gather numeric data and identify the relationship between variables (Serra-Aracil et al., 2022). Quantitative researchers can generalize data using a large-scale sample (Lanka et al., 2021). Researchers select the quantitative method to collect statistical data that are processed to be useful, are measured objectively, and identify the relationships between variables (Firestone, 1987; Saunders et al., 2016). Statistical data are unsuitable for gathering subjective information; therefore, the quantitative method was not appropriate for this study.

A third research methodology is the mixed-methods approach. Researchers use the mixed-methods approach to integrate at least one qualitative and one quantitative research component (Kansteiner & Konig, 2020). Some researchers have found it beneficial to use both quantitative and qualitative methods instead of viewing one as better than the other (Serra-Aracil et al., 2022). Researchers using mixed methods can study the relationship using both quantified variables and situational contexts (Pita Fernandez & Pertegas Diaz, 2002; Serra-Aracil et al., 2022). Although there are benefits to using mixed-methods research, the quantitative aspect was not necessary to address the focus of the current study.

Research Design

Four common qualitative research designs are narrative inquiry, ethnography, case study research, and pragmatic inquiry (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Researchers use a narrative design for personal storytelling in a chronologic or sequential format (Saunders et al., 2016). In narrative inquiry, stories are used to offer the researcher the ability to understand the world and its people (Andrews, 2020). Narrative research was not appropriate for the current study because it would have resulted in a large amount of irrelevant information.

Ethnography is a research design that focuses on society and culture (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Ethnography requires researchers to immerse themselves in a situation to experience a phenomenon firsthand, allowing them to obtain a profound understanding of the study (Bartholomew & Brown, 2019). Researchers utilize the ethnographic approach to identify the interaction between and distinctly interpret a group or culture (Saunders et al., 2016; Yin, 2018). The current study was focused on a variety of organic food suppliers; therefore, an ethnography would not have contributed to answering the study's research question.

A case study can include a person, group, organization, association, change process, or event, and the design is used to understand a real-life business setting (Saunders et al., 2016). Researchers employ case studies to attain an in-depth comprehension of the nature and intricacy of the phenomenon (Moghadam et al., 2021). When variable data does not produce meaningful results, a case study can provide an understanding and knowledge of a complex narrative (Gallagher, 2019). Although researchers use case studies to obtain in-depth data on a particular phenomenon, the design would not yield the introspective research that this study required.

The pragmatic inquiry approach is an effective method for gathering qualitative data, and it is used to isolate a particular topic and gain intensive knowledge about it (Waibel et al., 2015). The pragmatic inquiry design enables researchers to gain insight from the participants' perspective, which results in rich and specific data (Taguchi, 2018). A pragmatic inquiry was an appropriate choice for the current study because it enabled me to understand the strategies and practices of various successful organic food suppliers that have reduced organic food production costs.

I interviewed successful supply chain leaders at four organizations that supply organic foods to local grocery stores in South Carolina until I reached the point of data saturation. Data saturation is reached once researchers are no longer able to collect new information in a study (Mwita, 2022). It is crucial for qualitative researchers to reach data saturation because it ensures the validity and credibility of the study (Mwita, 2022). I conducted semistructured interviews with open-ended questions until no new themes or patterns arose from the participants' responses.

Population and Sampling

The population for this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was successful organic food suppliers. The sample included supply chain leaders at four organizations that supply organic foods to local grocery stores in South Carolina and had successfully offered organic foods at lower prices than their competition for a minimum of 5 years. Many factors are involved in determining a sample size; however, it is crucial to keep in mind that fewer participants are needed if the participants provide thorough and robust information (Mthuli et al., 2022). Stake (2006) suggested that researchers include a minimum sample size of four participants to reach data saturation. Researchers must reach data saturation to produce dependable and credible research (Antes, 2014).

I used purposive sampling to select participants that produced appropriate information regarding the current study. In purposive sampling, the researcher chooses specific cases to obtain relevant information on the topic (Campbell et al., 2020). The intention of using purposive sampling is to match the sample with the study to provide rigorous and trustworthy data (Campbell et al., 2020). Because purposive sampling is employed to select participants likely to generate useful information, this method allowed me to gain more in-depth knowledge on the topic under study.

Ethical Research

Ethical research plays a significant role in qualitative studies and is critical to maintaining the integrity of the study (Furtak, 2022). To maintain ethical standards, researchers should obtain informed consent, preserve confidentiality, and educate participants on the purpose of the study and their right to continue or withdraw from the study (Brinkmann & Kvale, 2005; Furtak, 2022). I followed all the applicable rules and regulations, including adhering to the *Belmont Report*, to meet ethical standards and protect participants. I emailed all participants with an informed consent form (see Appendix B) before their scheduled interview. An informed consent form acts as a contract and develops a sense of trust between the researcher and the participant (Mandal & Parija, 2014). The informed consent form included detailed information about the

study and interview processes; provided participants with the option to participate or withdraw from the study; and listed contact information for myself, my doctoral committee, and the Walden University IRB (see Mandal & Parija, 2014). Participants had the option to withdraw from the study at any time by scheduling a call with me or sending me an email.

I complied with all guidelines for ethical research as required by the *Belmont* Report and Walden University IRB. Before I contacted participants or conducted this study, I applied for and received approval from Walden University IRB (Approval # 10-19-24-1038874). The *Belmont Report* outlines ethical practices for conducting research using human subjects and provides three basic principles required when conducting research: respecting the participant, beneficence, and justice (U.S. Office for Human Research Protection [OHRP], 1979). Regarding respecting the person, researchers must treat the participant as an independent and protected agent (U.S. OHRP, 1979). To maintain respect of my study's participants, I administered informed consent forms as detailed in the interview protocol (see Appendix A). The principle of beneficence requires the researcher to not only do no harm but also to increase any potential benefit to the participant (U.S. OHRP, 1979). I maintained strict confidentiality throughout the interview and did not use any identifying verbiage in the study to remove any harm to participants. The principle of justice refers to all participants receiving equal treatment (U.S. OHRP, 1979). I used purposive sampling to select participants based on their knowledge of a topic (see Bernard, 2013). Each participant had essential information to provide and was treated equally as a valuable component of the study.

To further protect the information provided and the identity of the participants, I assigned them code names. Once the interview was concluded, I stored the hard copy of the interview recording in a locked, fireproof safe. The interview transcript was password protected to prohibit others from viewing the information. All participant and interview information will be kept safe for 5 years. At the end of this time, I will delete electronic files and shred physical documents related to the study.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the primary instrument for this study. In a qualitative study, the researcher is the primary research instrument because they conduct interviews, analyze the data, and interpret the findings (Shufutinsky, 2020). As a researcher, I had to create a trusting and collaborative relationship with the participants (see Soh et al., 2020). I collected data by conducting semistructured interviews with supply chain leaders from four organizations that supply organic foods to local grocery stores in South Carolina. In a semistructured interview, the interviewer asks all participants the same questions in the same order, then compares the data (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). To ensure that I asked each participant the same questions in the same order, I printed out the list of interview questions and marked off each question as they were asked to the participant.

Before beginning each interview, I read the opening statement of the Interview Protocol (see Appendix A). I gave the participants a hard copy of the Informed Consent Form (see Appendix B). After addressing any questions or concerns, I had the participants email me the consent form with a note saying "I consent." To begin the interview, I turned on the recording device and asked Interview Questions (see Appendix C). In addition to the recording device, I took notes as the participants answered questions. At the end of the interview, I explained how member checking was utilized and then scheduled a follow-up interview with the participant. I closed the interview by verifying the participant's contact information and expressing gratitude for their participation in my study.

Reliability and validity are essential to qualitative research. Researchers strive for validity because it demonstrates the study's usefulness (Leung, 2015). I used member checking to ensure a valid study. With member checking, the researcher confirms the accuracy of their data interpretation with the participant (Gray, 2018). I employed member checking by paraphrasing the participants' answers and asking clarifying questions when needed (Coleman, 2021). Researchers aim for reliability to ensure consistent and replicable research (Leung, 2015). I used methodological triangulation to establish reliable research. Researchers use methodological triangulation to compare data from multiple participants to determine if similarities exist (Guion et al., 2011). I triangulated the data from each organization by comparing the interview answers to identify the information that coincides with the others. Compiling data from multiple participants and identifying similarities can increase reliability and validity.

After the completion of the questions, I transcribed the interviews. I interpreted the findings and highlighted themes that were present. I presented my interpretation to the participant in the follow-up member checking session to ensure accuracy and agreement. The interview protocol is in Appendix A, and the interview questions are in Appendix C.

Data Collection Technique

Data collection is an essential component of a qualitative study. I utilized the interview protocol (see Appendix A) to conduct semistructured interviews for this study. The interview protocol is a fundamental tool in data collection and creates quality and consistency in the data collection process (Braaten et al., 2020). Once the Walden University IRB approved my study, I contacted the prospective participants and emailed them the informed consent form (see Appendix B). Upon participant consent, I gave the interviewee a choice between meeting face-to-face at a predetermined location or virtually using Skype. At the beginning of the meeting, I introduced myself, explained the purpose of my study, and provided the interview protocol and a hard copy of the informed consent form. Once the consent form was signed, I turned on my recording device and began the interview. I took notes and observed the participant during the interview, then thanked the participant and scheduled a follow-up interview once it ended.

I conducted semistructured interviews to gather data for this study. Semistructured interviews are one of the most used data collection methods (Bradford & Cullen, 2013). Although it is widely used and boasts many advantages, there are also disadvantages to using semistructured interviews. One disadvantage of conducting semistructured interviews is that the researcher's perspective may dictate the interview questions and influence the interpretation of the data (Diefenbach, 2009). To combat this potential misinterpretation, researchers should adequately identify the study's purpose and devise a plan to obtain relevant information to restore the quality of the study (Mahat-Shamir et al., 2021). Another disadvantage of employing semistructured interviews is that the researchers cannot always test the findings because of the uniqueness of participants' experiences and answers (Diefenbach, 2009). Although, being able to test and verify the findings is not always a disadvantage. Semistructured interviews allow researchers the opportunity to see an extraordinary phenomenon through the participant's view (Price & Smith, 2021). A semistructured interview, using open-ended questions, is advantageous and beneficial in research as it allows the researcher to obtain a deeper understanding of the phenomenon and view an experience through the lens of the participant.

I used member checking to ensure accuracy in my interpretation of the interview data. Member checking allows researchers to demonstrate validity in their study by confirming their interpretation with the participant (Brear, 2018). Following the interview, I transcribed the data and interpret the participant's responses. I emailed a copy of my notes to the participant and scheduled a time to review the accuracy of my interpretation. I finalized the data once the participant approved my interpretation.

Data Organization Technique

Practical organization is an essential aspect of properly analyzing collected data. Collecting and organizing data can be a lengthy process (Yin, 2018). However, data collection is more convenient now, thanks to technological advancement (Janssen et al., 2020). My primary data consists of typed notes in Microsoft Word and a recording of the interview. I utilized Microsoft Excel to organize the interview and participant data further. I saved a hard copy of my notes and recordings locked in a fireproof safe. I saved all remaining information on a password-protected external hard drive. I will save all data and documents for 5 years, at which point I will delete all electronic data and shred all physical data.

Data Analysis

Analyzing data allows the researcher to effectively interpret the research findings. The primary goal of data analysis is to establish valid and correct data interpretation (Aldahwan & Ramzan, 2022). I will use thematic analysis to analyze this qualitative pragmatic inquiry. Researchers use thematic analysis to identify common themes or patterns amongst the participants (Coghill et al., 2022). Identifying common themes can allow the researcher to properly interpret qualitative data.

Researchers use triangulation to increase the validity and reliability of the research findings. I used methodological triangulation for this study. Researchers use methodological triangulation when collecting data from multiple research methods that explore the same phenomena (Maria Mercedes, 2022). I triangulated data from each interview to ensure similarities existed within the research. Triangulating data and identifying similarities help create more credible and trustworthy data.

I used semistructured interviews to collect data from at least four participants. I recorded and used Microsoft Word to transcribe the interviews word-for-word and then paraphrased the transcript for member checking. I sent my interpretation to the participant and scheduled a time to discuss its accuracy. Once the data interpretation was approved, I used Microsoft Excel and NVivo software to organize my data and recognize themes. Researchers use NVivo because it provides flexible data categorization and takes

less time than analyzing data manually (Alam, 2021). I spotlighted key themes from the interviews and direct observation during the analysis. I used coding to help demonstrate meaning from the collected data (Clark & Veale, 2018). The NVivo software will assist me in the coding process.

I used thematic analysis to recognize common themes within the data and themes that are related to my conceptual framework. Researchers use thematic analysis to interpret and understand data by identifying patterns in qualitative research (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). Braun and Clarke (2006) outline a six-step approach to thematic analysis: (a) become familiar with the data, (b) generate codes, (c) identify themes, (d) review themes, (e) define and name themes, and (f) write up the report (Mihas, 2023). This six-step framework allowed me to recognize common themes in my research to interpret the data correctly.

I utilized Braun and Clarke's six steps to identify repeating patterns within my data. I read the transcripts multiple times to familiarize myself with the data. Once I was familiar with the data, I used Microsoft Excel and NVivo software to code portions of the data that were relevant to my research question. Then, I analyzed the codes and identified the related themes. In the fourth step, I color coded and analyzed each theme to ensure they were useful in my research. I then described each theme and showed if and how they related to each other. Finally, will wrote up the report, which is in Section 3. Following this six-step framework allowed me to identify recurring supply chain themes that correlate to strategies that can reduce organic food production costs and are related to the RDT.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Creating reliable and dependable data significantly contributes to establishing rigor and trustworthiness in qualitative research (Janis, 2022). Verifying reliability can sometimes be difficult as there are no statistical tests as there are with quantitative data (Sutton & Austin, 2015). I utilized member checking to create reliability in my study. To encourage member checking, I paraphrased interview data, asked for clarification when needed, and obtained participant verification of my interpretation (Coleman, 2021). I also followed the interview protocol (see Appendix A) to provide consistency throughout the various interviews.

Validity

Establishing validity in qualitative research can be challenging. However, creating credible, transferable, and confirmable research can assist in reaching validity (FitzPatrick, 2019). Researchers can ensure credibility by utilizing member checking (Yin, 2018). After the interviews, I sent the transcripts to the participants to determine the accuracy of the data interpretation. Qualitative researchers can also use triangulation to achieve validity (Caretta & Perez, 2019). I compared data from multiple interview transcripts to ensure that each participant provided adequate answers pertaining to the research question. Another method to build validity is transcribing interviews using audio recordings instead of the researcher's notes (Coleman, 2021). Using recordings guarantee that transcribed data are accurate, restoring credibility.

With transferability, the researcher should understand that although research cannot be completely replicated, patterns and themes should exist within the data (Stahl & King, 2020). It is also important to understand that one participant's thoughts and stories are not always the same as others' (Connelly, 2016). I documented all aspects of the research process and utilized data coding to establish transferability (Saunders et al., 2016; Yin, 2018). Researchers implement confirmability to draw conclusions and interpret the findings of the data (Yazan, 2015). To create confirmability, I retained detailed notes of the decisions and analyses throughout the research process and apply member checking (Connelly, 2016).

Qualitative researchers should collect data until they reach the point of data saturation, which is when no new themes are present. When a researcher utilizes multiple data collection tools, more data will be collected, giving the researcher a higher chance of reaching the data saturation point (Mwita, 2022). Consistency and dependability are key factors in obtaining data saturation (Janis, 2022). To promote validity, I used triangulation, member checking, and open-ended interview questions. To reach data saturation, I continued interviews and gathered data until no new information emerged.

Transition and Summary

I started Section 2 of this study by restating the purpose statement and introducing the role of the researcher and the participants. For this study, I interviewed supply chain leaders at four organizations that supply organic foods to local grocery stores in South Carolina. I utilized the interview protocol (see Appendix A) and interview questions (see Appendix C) to conduct the interviews. Section 2 also contained a discussion of the research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments and technique, and data analysis. Section 2 concluded with an analysis of the reliability and validity of my study.

Section 3 will start with an introduction followed by the presentation of the findings, applications to professional practice, and implications for social change. I will conclude Section 3 with recommendations for actions, recommendations for further research, and reflections.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore the processes supply chain leaders use to supply organic foods to local grocery stores. The data were collected using semistructured interviews, consisting of seven open-ended questions, with four organic food suppliers that sell organic foods to grocery stores in South Carolina. I used member checking to ensure that my interpretation of the data was correct. The findings indicated the struggles within the organic food supply chain and suppliers' successful strategies aimed at reducing organic food costs.

Presentation of the Findings

This qualitative pragmatic inquiry aimed to answer the overarching research question: What strategies do organic food supply chain leaders use to effectively reduce organic food production costs? To answer this question, I conducted semistructured interviews with four supply chain managers who sold organic food to grocery stores in South Carolina. I invited supply chain managers to participate in this study through an approved interview request template sent by email. Before taking part in the study potential participants had to reply to an email with the phrase, "I Consent," if they consented to the study's process and expectations. I then scheduled phone interviews with them by email. The interviews were audio recorded using a digital recorder.

I transcribed and coded the interviews using NVivo software, Microsoft Word, and Microsoft Excel. Member checking was then performed by emailing the participants an interpretation of the interview data for their feedback. To protect the identities of the participants, I replaced their personal names with the codes: P1, P2, P3, and P4. Participants' names, identifying information, and answers to interview questions will remain confidential.

Data saturation occurred after the fourth interview when no new data were found. Data analysis resulted in six emergent themes: organic certification, food appearance, expensive freight costs, speed of food distribution, labor, and relationships with farmers. The emergent themes were validated when compared to the literature review and the conceptual framework of Pfeffer and Salancik's RDT. The interviews confirmed the importance of supply chain member relationships, as identified through the RDT.

Theme 1: Organic Certification

The participants discussed different factors that increase the price of organic foods compared to conventional foods. One major cause of the heightened organic food price, and the first theme to emerge from the data analysis, was the cost of certification to be USDA-certified organic. The actual cost of receiving USDA organic certification ranges from \$250 to \$13,680 (California Certified Organic Farmers [CCOF], n.d.). Several factors, such as the organization's size, type, and complexity, determine the actual fees charged to each company (USDA, n.d.a). To recuperate some of the costs incurred from receiving USDA organic certification, P1 stated that many organic food producers add the certification fees to the price of the produce. This accession is one of the initial fees that increases organic production costs.

Participants noted that in addition to the costs, there are other factors associated with obtaining USDA organic certification that also contribute to the increased price of organic foods. P3 stated that the process and time it takes to be certified organic increases the price of organic foods. P3 then added that scheduling an inspection of the farm escalates the wait time, which is another expense that is included in the price of organic foods. With organic farming being such a labor-intensive process, these additional fees and costs can significantly escalate production costs.

As stated in the RDT, organizations depend on other organizations, and organic farms depend on the USDA certification to ensure that all farming processes are being performed accurately. Although this is an additional fee that, in turn, increases the organic food price, the certification process ensures food that is high in quality and free of toxins. Having this reassurance in the USDA organic label justifies the price for some consumers. However, although many people want to have healthier food options, the increased price of organic foods oftentimes makes it unattainable for all of society.

Theme 2: Food Appearance

The second theme identified was the assessment of consumers and grocery store buyers of the quality of the produce based on its appearance. P1 stated "the biggest barrier to a more efficient supply chain is our specifications on the appearance of food." Similarly, Jaros et al. (2000) found that food's color and physical form are linked to the perception of the food quality. Additionally, P1 said that "many of the specifications that grocery stores have are not consistent with the taste or the nutrition of the produce and, instead, are purely cosmetic."

P3 stated that the demand for cosmetically perfect food results in increased food waste. Food waste is a significant concern because approximately one third of produce is wasted in the supply chain process from producer to consumer (Gustavsson et al., 2011; Sutinen & Narvanen, 2022). When consumers and grocery store purchasers choose produce based solely on its appearance, it slows down the transport of food and increases the amount of food waste. Reducing the need and desire for food free of imperfections is a significant step toward eliminating some of the high amount of wasted food.

Theme 3: Expensive Freight Costs

The third theme to emerge was the need to reduce expensive freight costs. P1 stated that freight costs are a significant portion of organic food prices. The necessity of speedy and precise shipping for fresh produce has always been an added expense in the cost of organic foods; however, the costs have been even higher since the COVID-19 pandemic. Since the second half of 2020, freight costs have risen over 500% compared to the prepandemic rates (Carriere-Swallow et al., 2023). These increased transit costs constitute a significant hurdle in reducing organic food costs.

The RDT was helpful in looking at this situation because to the theory helps understand the relationships between members of the organic food supply chain. According to the RDT, there is often a reciprocal dependency between organizations in the supply chain (Drees & Heugens, 2013). Organic food producers rely on freight companies to transport their produce, just as the freight companies rely on organic farms to supply food for them to transport. The key for organic producers to reduce freight costs is to develop involved relationships with the transit organizations and be creative in the strategies used to transport produce.

The participants all shared strategies that they use to reduce expensive freight costs. P1 mentioned finding the cheapest transit organizations for each shipment because the prices vary depending on several factors. P4 stated that they have implemented coriding. In coriding, the organic producers share space in the same vehicle with other producers. P4 shared that the benefits of coriding are that the organizations split the fare cost, which reduces freight charges and gets the produce to consumers faster. P2 stated that they "decrease delivery dates for produce sold to restaurants and try to consolidate as much as they can in each order." P4 reported that they piggyback multiple deliveries on one truck to save on fuel costs. P3 has implemented backhauling as well as using their own trucks when making deliveries. P3 explained backhauling by saying that after they make deliveries, they try to pick up produce from other locations so that their trucks do not come back empty, which also eliminates an additional trip. P3 also shared that they "use their own box trucks to make deliveries whenever it is appropriate." When using their own trucks, P3 said that they "fill them up as much as possible, which saves money reduces the environmental footprint." These strategies all seem to be successful in reducing some of the freight costs.

Theme 4: Speed of Food Distribution

The fourth emergent theme was the criticalness of distributing organic food as quickly as possible. All produce has a window of the length of time it will stay fresh; organic food has an even smaller timespan. Effective inventory management, transportation, and distribution are critical elements to delivering organic foods expeditiously and reducing food waste (Leithner & Fikar, 2022). Several of the participants shared their strategies in trying to get their produce out expeditiously. P4 stated that one of their techniques for reducing costs and waste is quickly getting their produce to the market. P2 shared that since they cannot get their produce to customers as promptly as they need to, they often use a distribution hub, saying they "deliver their produce to a regional hub that can distribute it to a much larger area." This strategy enables the produce to be distributed considerably faster and allows P2 to get their produce out to markets they would otherwise not be able to reach.

Like other participants, P1 said they send some of their produce to a distribution hub; however, when possible, P1 shared that they sometimes bypass the usual distribution chain and send the produce directly to the grocery store from the producer. Directly shipping the produce allows the farm to transport the food as soon as it is ready. P1 also said they "schedule distribution as close to the pack date as possible." Distributing produce immediately after being packed lengthens the shelf life and reduces product waste.

Theme 5: Labor

The fifth theme that emerged from the data was the amount of labor that goes into organic farming. Organic farming requires a significant amount of time and maintenance, which results in additional costs for production. To maintain USDA organic certification, farmers cannot use any synthetic pesticides, herbicides, or fertilizers (Dat et al., 2020). P3 stated that "the lack of viable herbicides requires more labor, which is one of the most expensive inputs in organic farming." Furthermore, Lanini (2010) found that organic

herbicides work best when used in high volumes and concentrations; however, these herbicides are costly, limiting their affordability for commercial crop production.

P1 shared that since organic farmers cannot use the chemicals that conventional farmers use, they cannot produce the same amount of organic crops as conventional crops. So, in addition to the increased labor costs, organic farmers are producing fewer fruits and vegetables. P4 added that educating consumers on the labor and process that goes into organic farming is imperative. Organic farming is lengthy, expensive, and labor intensive, which leads to higher prices when compared to conventional foods (Pawlewicz, 2020). The extensive labor required to grow organic crops is another expense that results in the increased cost of organic food production. However, consumers might be more willing to pay a premium price for organic foods if they understand the breakdown of costs associated with production and the supply chain process.

Theme 6: Relationships With Farmers

The sixth and final theme identified in the current study was the dire need to develop a relationship with organic food producers. The food supply chain comprises farmers, distributors, wholesalers, and retailers (Bhat et al., 2022). To create efficiency in the organic food supply chain, distributors must establish relationships not only with the wholesalers and retailers but with the farmers as well. P1 stated that they constantly communicate with their farmers and do in-depth product planning. P1 shared that "frequent communication and planning allows them to determine the amount of produce they will take from each farmer per month." Knowing the amount of produce that P1 will receive from each farm enables them to develop a plan for distribution to their wholesalers and retailers.

In addition to the relationship between farmer and distributor, it is also essential that organic food producers develop relationships with each other. P2 shared that "organic farmers should view other farmers not as competitors but as collaborators." P2 stated that this view enables farmers to shift the distribution chain and expand their outreach. Viewing other farmers as collaborators can benefit organic producers by allowing them to share struggles and work with similar or compatible farms.

Connection to the Literature and Conceptual Framework

The RDT was useful in identifying the importance of relationships within the organic food supply chain. The RDT enables organic supply chain members to understand the relationships between the organization and the external environment (Drees & Heugens, 2013). Understanding the organization-environment relationship can allow supply chain members to develop an open mind regarding the need to be dependent on other organizations. In the RDT, it was proposed that an organization's survival depends on its ability to acquire resources from other organizations (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978; Pu et al., 2020). The overarching research question for this study revolved around the strategies that organic food supply chain leaders use to reduce organic food production costs effectively. After discovering the emerging themes utilizing the RDT, I identified several strategies that can successfully reduce organic food production costs. These strategies will be highlighted in the Recommendations for Action subsection.

Applications to Professional Practice

The findings of this study and the exhaustive literature review may contribute to organic food suppliers by helping them reevaluate their current strategies to identify any changes they may need to implement to increase efficiency and reduce costs. The expansive body of literature showed that the cost of organic produce is significantly higher than that of conventional foods. Additionally, the literature revealed compelling health and environmental benefits to growing and consuming organic foods. Identifying successful strategies to reduce organic food production costs is advantageous not only to organic farmers but also to retailers and consumers.

The themes that emerged from this study all provide meaningful data for organic food supply chain suppliers. The six themes (i.e., organic certification, food appearance, expensive freight costs, speed of food distribution, labor, and relationships with farmers) show the major costs and inefficiencies with organic food production and distribution. The strategies shared are realistic approaches to the organic food distribution process that are proven to reduce organic food production costs. Each participant assessed the strategies used and found them to be effective.

Implications for Social Change

Identifying strategies that organic food supply chain members use to reduce production costs is vital to the community. The findings of this study stand to contribute to positive social change by decreasing organic food production costs to make organic produce more price effective for consumers. Ismael and Ploeger (2020) found that one of the reasons that individuals do not purchase organic foods is the elevated price. The
current study provides numerous techniques that organic food producers and suppliers can implement to alleviate some of the high production costs.

Conventional foods are grown using synthetic and chemical-filled pesticides, and studies have shown that these pesticides have tremendous adverse health effects on humans, such as causing cancer and even death (Hassaan & Nemr, 2020). However, many consumers cannot afford organic produce due to the increased price when compared to conventional foods. The findings from the current study provide ample suggestions regarding strategies that organic suppliers can implement to reduce organic food production costs, thus making organic options more easily attainable and affordable for consumers. Making organic food more attainable promotes economic growth as well as healthier and safer food options for society.

Recommendations for Action

Knowledge of strategies used in the organic food supply chain process is a fundamental constituent of the survival of organic food suppliers. Organic food suppliers should be aware of competitors' strategies to reduce production costs. This is not to say that these suppliers should change their process to mimic their competition, but they should use these techniques to evaluate the process they are currently using.

This study provides many suggestions that organic food producers can utilize to reduce organic food production costs. The six emergent themes from this study were derived from successful organic food suppliers who sell to grocery stores in South Carolina. Based on the study findings, my recommendations for action are:

- Organic food suppliers should educate consumers on the differences between the quality of food and the appearance of food. Consumers associate the taste and quality of food based on its appearance, resulting in high amounts of food waste.
- Organic food suppliers should implement transportation strategies, such as coriding, piggybacking, and backhauling, to reduce expensive freight costs.
 With freight being one of the most significant costs in the organic food supply chain process, even a small savings in cost can positively impact total production expenses.
- In designing a transportation strategy, organic food suppliers should also consider an approach to decrease the time it takes for produce to get from the farm to the retailer. Reducing the time it takes for produce to get in the grocery stores will lengthen the shelf life and reduce food waste.
- Organic food suppliers should create an open and healthy relationship with the farmers as well as other suppliers. As stated in the RDT, no organization is fully self-sufficient (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978). If suppliers work with each other and the producers, the organic food supply chain can become more efficient, reducing costs.

I will disseminate the findings of this study and the recommendations of action to interested stakeholders during conferences, seminars, and workshops. I also plan on distributing the results of this study in business and academic journals.

Recommendations for Further Research

This qualitative pragmatic inquiry aimed to explore the processes supply chain leaders use to supply organic foods to local grocery stores. In this study, I acknowledge three possible limitations. The first limitation is that participants may not share thorough supply chain strategies, limiting the accuracy of the data. Ensuring confidentiality and stressing the value of obtaining this information can alleviate the participants' hesitation in sharing industry information. The second limitation is that the strategies used for one participant may not be successful for other participants. It is true that all organizations operate differently and may have contrasting results when implementing similar strategies. A good idea in the future would be to implement suggested strategies in other organizations to see if similar results emerge. The final limitation is that although some businesses may have sufficient supply chain strategies, the costs associated with organic food labeling may prevent a reduction in organic food costs. The costs associated with the USDA organic certification are a significant cost and, unfortunately, is one that is unavoidable.

I recommend expanding the population to include organic food suppliers in other states for future research. It would be valuable to this topic to identify issues that exist in other areas and the successful strategies utilized. Future research on organic food waste would also complement the findings of this study.

Reflections

Throughout this process, not only did I learn about organic food supply chain strategies, but I also learned many other things. I now fully understand how extensive and

demanding growing organic crops is. I also learned about the many health benefits of consuming organic foods and saw how passionate the organic food suppliers are about getting their products on the market. Because of this, I feel even stronger about the importance of consuming an organic food diet. Finally, I learned to look past the appearance of produce and purchase items that are not cosmetically perfect.

In addition to industry knowledge, I have also grown in my research process knowledge. The DBA doctoral study process has allowed me to gain a great understanding of how to collect and analyze data. Furthermore, this program has taught me the importance of evaluating data without imposing my own biases to obtain accurate data. This process has helped me grow as a student, teacher, professional, and person.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore the strategies supply chain leaders use to effectively reduce organic food production costs. There is a significant price difference between organic and conventional foods. Organic foods sometimes cost more than 5 times as much as conventional foods (Dangi et al., 2020; Schlatter et al., 2020). This price differential decreases the attainability of organic produce for many consumers. Identifying strategies that successful organic food suppliers implement to reduce production costs is essential in creating a more efficient supply chain and making organic foods more accessible.

I conducted semistructured interviews with supply chain leaders at four organizations that supply organic foods to local grocery stores in South Carolina. Using the RDT as the lens through which I conducted this study, the findings fill a gap in the relevant literature regarding the organic food supply chain. This study and its findings contribute to organic food supply chain research and provide practical strategies for reducing organic food production costs.

References

- Adashi, E. Y., Walters, L. B., & Menikoff, J. A. (2018). The Belmont Report at 40: Reckoning with time. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(10), 1345–1348. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2018.304580</u>
- Alam, M. K. (2021). A systematic qualitative case study: Questions, data collection, NVivo analysis and saturation. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 16(1), 1–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-2019-1825</u>
- Aldahwan, N. S., & Ramzan, M. S. (2022). The descriptive data analysis for the adoption of community cloud in Saudi HEI-based factor adoption. *BioMed Research International*, 2022, 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/7765204</u>
- Ali, H., Li, M., & Hao, Y. (2021). Purchasing behavior of organic food among Chinese university students. *Sustainability*, 13, 5464. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13105464</u>
- Aljabhan, B., & Abeyie, M. (2022). Big data analytics in supply chain management: A qualitative study. *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience*, 2022, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/9573669
- Almasri, B. M., & McDonald, D. D. (2021). Philosophical assumptions used in research on barriers for effective cancer pain management: A scoping review. *Pain Management Nursing*, 22(5), 634–644. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmn.2021.04.006</u>

Al-Masri Aoudi, R., Charhbili, M., Cros, S., & Baron, M.-L. (2022, June 1–6).
 Consumers relationship with short food supply chain and proximity [Conference presentation]. 2022 IEEE 6th International Conference on Logistics Operations
 Management (GOL). <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/gol53975.2022.9820418</u>

- Alpi, K. M., & Evans, J. J. (2019). Distinguishing case study as a research method from case reports as a publication type. *Journal of the Medical Library Association*, 107(1), 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.5195/jmla.2019.615</u>
- Ames, H., Glenton, C., & Lewin, S. (2019). Purposive sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example from a synthesis on parental perceptions of vaccine communication. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 19(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0665-4
- Andrews, M. (2020). Quality indicators in narrative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *18*(3), 353–368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2020.1769241</u>
- Antes, A. L., (2014). A systematic approach to instruction in research ethics. *Accountability in Research*, 21(1), 50–67.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2013.822269
- Aschemann-Witzel, J., & Zielke, S. (2017). Can't buy me green? A review of consumer perceptions of and behavior toward the price of organic food. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 51(1), 211–251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12092</u>
- Ashaolu, T. J., & Ashaolu, J. O. (2020). Perspectives on the trends, challenges, and benefits of green, smart and organic (GSO) foods. *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*, 22, 1–7.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2020.100273

 Asian, S., Hafezalkotob, A., & John, J. J. (2019). Sharing economy in organic food supply chains: A pathway to sustainable development. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 218, 322–338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.06.010</u>

- Bansal, P., Smith, W. K., & Vaara, E. (2018). New ways of seeing through qualitative research. Academy of Management Journal, 61(4), 1189–1195. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2018.4004</u>
- Bartholomew, T. T., & Brown, J. R. (2019). Entering the ethnographic mind: A grounded theory of using ethnography in psychological research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 19(2), 316–345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2019.1604927</u>
- Basar, S., Ayse, K. Y., Karaca, M., Lapcin, H. T., & Basar, S. I. (2020). Fleet modelling in strategic multi-criteria decision-making of approved training organization from capacity building and resource dependency theory perspective: Risk taxonomy methodology. *Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology*, *92*(6), 917–923. https://doi.org/10.1108/AEAT-03-2020-0051
- Bass, A., & Chakrabarty, S. (2014). Resource scarcity: Competition for global resources, strategic intent, and governments as owners. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 45(8), 961–979. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/jibs.2014.28</u>
- Baudry, J., Assmann, K. E., Touvier, M., Alles, B., Seconda, L., Latino-Martel, P.,
 Ezzedine, K., Galan, P., Hercberg, S., Lairon, D., & Kesse-Guyot, E. (2018).
 Association of frequency or organic food consumption with cancer risk: Findings from the NutriNet-Sante prospective cohort study. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *178*(12), 1597–1606. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.4357</u>
- Bernard, H. R. (2013). Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches (2nd ed.). Sage.

Bhat, S. A., Huang, N. F., Sofi, I. B., & Sultan, M. (2022). Agriculture-food supply chain management based on blockchain and IoT: A narrative on enterprise blockchain interoperability. *Agriculture*, 12(40), 40–65.

https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture12010040

Blau, P. M. (1964). Exchange and power in social life. John Wiley and Sons.

- Borgstede, M., & Scholz, M. (2021). Quantitative and qualitative approaches to generalization and replication–A representationalist view. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.605191</u>
- Borsotto, P., Cagliero, R., Giare, F., Giordani, G., Iacono, R., Manetti, I., & Sardone, R. (2023). Measuring short food supply chain sustainability: A selection of attributes and indicators through a qualitative approach. *Agriculture*, *13*(3), 646. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture13030646
- Braatan, B., Kramer, A., Henderson, E., Kajfez, R., & Dringenberg, E. (2020, October 1– 3). Accessing complex constructs: Refining an interview protocol [Conference presentation]. 2020 IEEE Frontiers in Education Conference (FIE). https://doi.org/10.1109/FIE44824.2020.9274260
- Bradford, S., & Cullen, F. (2013). *Research and research methods for youth* practitioners. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203802571</u>
- Brantsaeter, A. L., Ydersbond, T. A., Hoppin, J. A., Haugen, M., & Meltzer, H. M.
 (2017). Organic food in the diet: Exposure and health implications. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 38, 295–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031816-044437</u>

- Brear, M. (2018). Process and outcomes of a recursive, dialogic member checking approach: A project ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(7), 944–957. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318812448</u>
- Bremer, P. (2018). Towards a reference model for the cold chain. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 29(3), 822–838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-02-2017-0052</u>
- Brinkmann, S., & Kvale, S. (2005). Confronting the ethics of qualitative research. Journal of Constructivist Psychology, 18(2), 157–181.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10720530590914789

- California Certified Organic Farmers. (n.d.). Organic Certification Fees. https://www.ccof.org/page/organic-certification-fees
- Campbell, S., Greenwood, M., Prior, S., Shearer, T., Walkem, K., Young, S., Bywaters, D., & Walker, K. (2020). Purposive sampling: complex or simple? Research case examples. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 25(8), 652–661.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206

- Caretta, M. A., & Perez, M. A. (2019). When participants do not agree: Member checking and challenges to epistemic authority in participative research. *Field Methods*, 31(4), 359–374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X19866578</u>
- Carriere-Swallow, Y., Deb, P., Furceri, D., Jimenez, D., & Ostry, J. D. (2023). Shipping costs and inflation. *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 130, 102771. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jimonfin.2022.102771</u>

- Celik, S. (2020). An overview of four fundamental theories of organizations. *Afyon Kocatepe University Journal of Science*, 22(3), 730–746.
- Chamchong, P. (2019). The influence of socio-cultural conditions on inter-local collaboration: Rethinking resource dependency theory from lessons of Thailand. *Asia-Pacific Social Science Review*, 19(3), 30–41.
- Champions. (2017). SDG Target 12.3 on food loss and waste: 2017 progress report. <u>https://www.rockefellerfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/SDG-Target-12.3-on-</u> Food-Loss-and-Waste_2017-Progress-Report.pdf
- Chen, M. C., Lu, C. C., & Liu, Y. C. (2018). Optimal consolidation of fresh agricultural products in a multi-temperature joint distribution system. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 29(3), 887–901. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-</u> 01-2017-0021
- Chen, S. P., & Chen, C. Y. (2021). Dynamic markdown decisions based on a quality loss function in on-site direct-sale supply chains for perishable food. *Journal of the Operational Research Society*, 72(4), 822–836.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01605682.2019.1705192

- Chen, X. (2019). Antecedents of technological diversification: A resource dependence logic. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, 5(4), 80–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc5040080</u>
- Chu, Z., Wang, Q., Lai, F., & Collins, B. J. (2019). Managing interdependence: Using Guanxi to cope with supply chain dependency. *Journal of Business Research*, 103, 620–631. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.11.035</u>

- Clark, K. R., & Veale, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, *89*(5), 482CT–485CT.
- Coghill, S., Chaffee, V. D., & Ryan, M. (2022). Qualitative thematic analysis of pharmacy student blogs for international advanced pharmacy practice experiences. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 86(6), 729–742. <u>https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe8673</u>
- Coleman, P. (2021). Validity and reliability within qualitative research in the caring sciences. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, *14*(3), 2041–2047.
- Collier, D. A., & Evans, J. R. (2021). *Operations and supply chain management* (2nd ed.). Cengage Learning.
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, 25(6), 435–436.
- Creswell, J. W. (2015). A concise introduction to mixed methods research. Sage.
- Dagg, W., Forgeron, P., Macartney, G., & Chartrand, J. (2020). Parents' management of adolescent patients' postoperative pain after discharge: A qualitative study. *Canadian Journal of Pain*, 4(3), 51–60.

https://doi.org/10.1080/24740527.2020.1783524

Dangi, N., Gupta, S. K., & Narula, S. A. (2020). Consumer buying behavior and purchase intention of organic foods: A conceptual framework. *Management of Environmental Quality*, 31(6), 1515–1530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/MEQ-01-</u> 2020-0014 Das, S., Chatterjee, A., & Pal, T. K. (2020). Organic farming in India: A vision towards a healthy nation. *Food Quality & Safety*, 4(2), 69–76. https://doi.org/10.1093/fqsafe/fyaa018

 Diefenbach, T. (2009). Are case studies more than sophisticated storytelling?:
 Methodological problems of qualitative empirical research mainly based on semistructured interviews. *Quality and Quantity*, 43(6), 875–894.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-008-9164-0

- Dixon, D., & Johnston, M. (2019). Content validity of measures of theoretical constructs in health psychology: Discriminant content validity is needed. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 24(3), 477–484. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjhp.12373</u>
- Dovleac, L. (2016). An overview on the supply chain for European organic food market. Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Brason, 9(2), 325–330.
- Drees, J. M., & Heugens, P. P. M. A. R. (2013). Synthesizing and extending resource dependency theory: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Management*, 39(6), 1666–1698. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206312471391
- Ehrmin, J. T., & Pierce, L. L. (2021). Innovative qualitative research data collection and analysis activities that engage nursing students. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 37(1), 38–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profnurs.2020.11.009</u>

Erokhin, V., & Gao, T. (2020). Impacts of COVID-19 on trade and economic aspects of food security: Evidence from 45 developing countries. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(16), 5775.
https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17165775

- Ezer, F., & Aksut, S. (2021). Opinions of graduate students of social sciences education about qualitative research method. *International Education Studies*, 14(3), 15–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/ies.v14n3p15</u>
- Farghaly, A. (2018). Comparing and contrasting quantitative and qualitative research approaches in education: The peculiar situation of medical education. *Education in Medicine Journal*, 10(1), 3–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.21315/eimj2018.10.12</u>
- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87, 160–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001</u>
- Firestone, W. A. (1987). Meaning in method: The rhetoric of quantitative and qualitative research. *Educational Researcher*, *16*(7), 16–21.
- FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 11*(2), 211–217.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014

- Fung, B. (2015). Organic food is worth the extra cost. A. Francis (Ed.), At Issue, Organic food. Greenhaven Press.
- Furtak, A. M. (2022). Developing ethical research behaviour in doctoral students. *South African Journal of Bioethics and Law, 15*(2), 65–68.

https://doi.org/10.7196/SAJBL.2022.v15i2.813

Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408–1416. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/</u>

- Fusch, P., Fusch, G., & Ness, L. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.5590/josc.2018.10.1.2
- Gallagher, J. R. (2019). A framework for internet case study methodology in writing studies. *Computers and Composition*, 54, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compcom.2019.102509
- Galli, F., & Brunori, G. (2013). Short food supply chains as drivers of sustainable development. Evidence document. Document developed in the framework of the FP7 project FOODLINKS.

https://www.foodlinkscommunity.net/fileadmin/documents_organicresearch/foodl inks/CoPs/evidence-document-sfsc-cop.pdf. Accessed 24 May 2022.

Garba, O. A., Babalola, M. T., & Guo, L. (2018). A social exchange perspective on why and when ethical leadership foster customer-oriented citizenship behavior. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 70, 1–8.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.10.018

Garnett, P., Doherty, B., & Heron, T. (2020). Vulnerability of the United Kingdom's food supply chains exposed by COVID-19. *Nature Food*, 1(6), 315–318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-020-0097-7</u>

Gautam, R., Singh, A., Karthik, S., Pandey, S., Scrimgeour, F., & Tiwari, M. K. (2017).
Traceability using RFID and its formulation for a kiwifruit supply chain. *Computers and Industrial Engineering*, 103, 46–58.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2016.09.007

Gray, D. (2018). Doing research in the real world. (4th ed.). Sage.

- Guion, L. A., Diehl, D. C., & McDonald, D. (2011). Triangulation: Establishing the validity of qualitative studies. *EDIS*, 2011(8), 1–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.32473/edis-</u> fy394-2011
- Gustavsson, J., Cederberg, C., & Sonesson, U. (2011). *Global food losses and food waste* - *Extent, causes and prevention*. Rome. <u>http://www.fao.org/3/a-i2697e.pdf</u>
- Harsasi, M., & Minrohayati, M. (2017). The impact of supply chain management practices on competitive advantage. *International Journal of Economic Policy in Emerging Economies*, 10(3), 240–247.

https://doi.org/10.1504/IJEPEE.2017.086623

- Hassaan, M. A., & Nemr, A. E. (2020). Pesticides pollution: Classifications, human health impact, extraction and treatment techniques. *The Egyptian Journal of Aquatic Research*, 46(3), 207–220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejar.2020.08.007</u>
- Hillman, A. J., Withers, M. C., & Collins, B. J. (2009). Resource dependence theory: A review. *Journal of Management*, 35(6), 1404–1427. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206309343469
- Hofer, C., Jin, H., Swanson, R. D., Waller, M. A., & Williams, B. D. (2012). The impact of key retail accounts on supplier performance: A collaborative perspective of resource dependency theory. *Journal of Retailing*, 88(3), 412–420.
- Hossain, N. U. I., Amrani, S. E., Jaradat, R., Marufuzzaman, M., Buchanan, R., Rinaudo,C., & Hamilton, M. (2020). Modeling and assessing interdependencies betweencritical infrastructures using Bayesian network: A case study of inland waterway

port and surrounding supply chain network. *Reliability Engineering & System Safety, 198*, 106898. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ress.2020.106898</u>

Huang, H. (2022). Green supply chain management and its impact on economicenvironmental performance: Evidence from Asian countries. *Journal of Environmental & Public Health, 2022*, 1–9.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/7035260

Islam, S., & Colonescu, C. (2019). Data on retail price differential between organic and conventional foods. *Data in Brief*, 27, 1–6.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2019.104641

- Ismael, D., & Ploeger, A. (2020). The potential influence of organic food consumption and intention-behavior gap on consumers' subjective wellbeing. *Foods*, 9(5), 650– 670. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9050650</u>
- International Federation of Organic Agriculture Movements. (1998). The IFOAM basic standards for organic production and processing. General Assembly, Argentina, November, IFOAM, Germany. Organic Food Production Act of 1990 (U.S.C.) s. 2103
- Janis, I. (2022). Strategies for establishing dependability between two qualitative intrinsic case studies: A reflexive thematic analysis. *Field Methods*, 34(3), 240–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X211069636</u>
- Janssen, M., Brous, P., Estevez, E., Barbosa, L. S., & Janowski, T. (2020). Data governance: Organizing data for trustworthy artificial intelligence. *Government Information Quarterly*, 37(3), 101493. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2020.101493</u>

- Jaros, D., Rohm, H., & Strobl, M. (2000). Appearance properties–A significant contribution to sensory food quality? *LWT – Food Science and Technology*, 33(4), 320–326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/fstl.2000.0666</u>
- Jarzebowski, S., Bourlakis, M., & Bezat-Jarzebowska, A. (2020). Short food supply chains (SFSC) as local and sustainable systems. *Sustainability*, 12(11), 4715. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12114715</u>
- Jayalath, M. M., Perera, H. N., Thibbotuwawa, A., & Hettiarachchi, B. D. (2022). A profit maximization approach for organic short food supply chains. 2022 Moratuwa Engineering Research Conference (MERCon). https://doi.org/10.1109/mercon55799.2022.99062
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(1),138–146. <u>https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120</u>
- Jones, G. J., Svensson, P. G., Taylor, E., & Hyun, M. (2020). Analyzing collaborations involving nonprofit youth sports organizations: A resource dependency perspective. *Journal of Sport Management*, 34(3), 270–281. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.2019-0054
- Kajamaa, A., Mattick, K., & Croix, A. (2020). How to ... do mixed-methods research. *Clinical Teacher*, *17*(3), 267–271. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13145
- Kansteiner, K., & Konig, S. (2020). The role(s) of qualitative content analysis in mixed methods research designs. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 21(1), 221–242. <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-21.1.3412</u>

Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research: The power of reflexivity. *The International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Studies*, *13*(1), 19–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-</u> 011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31

Kemp, C., van Herwerden, L., Molloy, E., Kleve, S., Brimblecombe, J., Reidlinger, D., & Palermo, C. (2021). How do students offer value to organisations through work integrated learning? A qualitative study using social exchange theory. *Advances in Health Sciences Education*, 26(3), 1075–1093. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-021-10038-x</u>

- Ketokivi, M., & Mahoney, J. T. (2020). Transaction cost economics as a theory of supply chain efficiency. *Production and Operations Management*, 29(4), 1011–1031. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/poms.13148</u>
- Kholmuminov, S., Kholmuminov, S., & Wright, R. E. (2019). Resource dependency theory analysis of higher education institutions in Uzbekistan. *Higher Education*, 77(1), 59–79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-018-0261-2
- Khurana, I., & Farhat, J. (2021). The timing of diversification and startup firms' survival: A resource-based perspective. *Industry & Innovation*, 28(10), 1249–1269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2021.1976624</u>
- Kim, S., Foerstl, K., Schmidt, C. G., & Wagner, S. M. (2022). Adoption of green supply chain management practices in multi-tier supply chains: Examining the difference between higher and lower tier firms. *International Journal of Production Research*, 60(21), 6451–6468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2021.1992032</u>

- Kittredge, J. (n.d.). Price comparison of farmers' markets, grocery stores, and co-ops on organic and conventional food. *The Natural Farmer: The Newspaper of the Northeast Organic Farming Association*.
- Lanini, W. T. (2010). Organic herbicides–do they work. *California Weed Science Society Journal*, 6(1), 11–12. <u>https://www.jhbiotech.com/docs/UC-Evaluation-of-Weed-</u> Zap.pdf
- Lanka, E., Lanka, S., Rostron, A., & Singh, P. (2021). Why we need qualitative research in management studies. RAC – Revisita de Administracao Contemporanea, 25(2), 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-7849rac2021200297.en</u>
- Latuhka, M., Lisina, P., & Panibratov, Y. (2019). Developing sustainable competitive advantage of a firm through human resource management practices: A competence-based approach. *Global Business and Economics Review*, 21(1), 96–119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/gber.2019.096855</u>
- Lee, I. H. (2022). Startups, relocation, and firm performance: A transaction cost economics perspective. *Small Business Economics*, 58(1), 205–224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-020-00406-z</u>
- Leite, D. F. B., Padilha, M. A. S., & Cecatti, J. G. (2019). Approaching literature review for academic purposes: The literature review checklist. *Clinics*, 74, e1403. <u>https://doi.org/10.6061/clinics/2019/e1403</u>
- Leithner, M., & Fikar, C. (2022). A simulation model to investigate impacts of facilitating quality data within organic fresh food supply chains. *Annals of*

Operations Research, 314(2), 529–551. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10479-019-03455-0</u>

- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, 4(3), 324–327. https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Liu, Y. H. S., Deligonul, S., Cavusgil, E., Chiou, J. S., (2018). Always trust in old friends? Effects of reciprocity in bilateral asset specificity on trust in international B2B partnerships. *Journal of Business Research*, 90, 171–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.05.012</u>
- Liu, K., Lan, Y., & Li, W. (2020). Behavior-based pricing between organic and general food enterprises. *British Food Journal*, 122(1), 107–121. https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-08-2018-0500
- Lu, M., Cui, T., Huang, Z., Zhao, H., Li, T., & Wang, K. (2021). A systematic review of questionnaire-based quantitative research on MOOCs. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 22(2), 285–312.

https://doi.org/10.19173/irrod1.v22i2.5208

Lucia, P. M. (2020). Short food supply chains – a growing movement. The case study of the Viseu Dao Lafoes Region. *Open Agriculture*, *5*(1), 806–816.

https://doi.org/10.1515/opag-2020-0077

Maaz, M. A. M., Ahmad, R., & Abad, A. (2022). Antecedents and consequences of green supply chain management practices: A study of Indian food processing industry.

Benchmarking: An International Journal, 29(7), 2045–2073.

https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-01-2021-0026

Madhani, P. M. (2022). Big data analytics in supply chain management: Dynamic capabilities view. *IUP Journal of Supply Chain Management*, *19*(3), 7–32.

 Mahat-Shamir, M., Neimeyer, R. A., & Pitcho-Prelorentzos, S. (2021). Designing indepth semi-structured interviews for revealing meaning reconstruction after loss.
 Death Studies, 45(2), 83–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2019.1617388</u>

- Mahroof, K., Omar, A., & Kucukaltan, B. (2022). Sustainable food supply chains:
 Overcoming key challenges through digital technologies. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 71(3), 981–1003.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-12-2020-0687
- Mandal, J., & Parija, S. C. (2014). Informed consent and research. *Trop Parasitol*, 4(2), 78–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/2229-5070.138533</u>
- Maria Mercedes, A. V. (2022). Principles, scope, and limitations of the methodological triangulation. *Investigacion y Educacion En Enfermeria*, 40(2).

https://doi.org/10.17533/udea.iee.v40n2e03

Marjosola, H. (2021). The problem of regulatory arbitrage: A transaction cost economics perspective. *Regulation & Governance*, 15(2), 388–407.

https://doi.org/10.1111/rego.12287

Marshall, C., Rossman, G. B., Blanco, G. (2021). *Designing qualitative research* (7th ed.). Sage.

- Mather, D., Knight, J., & Holdsworth, D. (2005). Pricing differentials for organic, ordinary and genetically modified food. *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 14(6), 387–392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/10610420510624549</u>
- McEvoy, M. (2017, April 6). Organic integrity in the supply chain: Overview for certified organic handlers [Video]. USDA Agricultural Marketing Service. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Fi5671MWVNk
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002–1006. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149</u>
- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 2, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/233339615597674</u>
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Michel-Villarreal, R. (2023). Towards sustainability and resilient food supply chains: A focus on sustainability practices and resilience capabilities using case study. *British Food Journal, 125*(5), 1914–1935. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-09-2021-1060</u>
- Mihas, P. (2023). Qualitative research methods: Approaches to qualitative data analysis. *International Encyclopedia of Education* (4th ed.), 302–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-818630-5.11029.2

- Mili, S., & Arfa, I. (2020). Uncovering value creation factors in organic food supply chains. *International Journal on Food Systems Dynamics*, 11(5), 503–521. <u>https://doi.org/10.18461/ijfsd.v11i5.70</u>
- Moghadam, M. R. S., Arabi, N. G., & Khoshsima, G. (2021). A review of case study method in operations management research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069211010088</u>
- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People*, 7(1), 23–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571</u>
- Motulsky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 389–406.

https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215

Mthuli, S. A., Ruffin, F., & Singh, N. (2022). 'Define, explain, justify, apply' (DEJA):
An analytical tool for guiding qualitative research sample size. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 25(6), 809–821.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2021.1941646

Muangmee, C., Kassakorn, N., Khalid, B., Bacik, R., & Kot, S. (2022). Evaluating competitiveness in the supply chain management of small and medium scale enterprises. *Journal of Competitiveness, 14*(2), 93–112.

https://doi.org/10.7441/joc.2022.03.06

Murphree, M., & Anderson, J. A. (2018). Countering overseas power in global value chains: Information asymmetries and subcontracting in the plastics industry.

Journal of International Management, 24(2), 123–136.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2017.09.007

- Mwai, M. W., Kiplang'at, J., & Gichoya, D. (2014). Application of resource dependency theory and transaction cost theory in analysing outsourcing information communication services decisions: A case of selected public university libraries in Kenya. *The Electronic Library*, *32*(6), 786–805. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EL-09-2012-0112</u>
- Mwita, K. M. (2022). Factors influencing data saturation in qualitative studies. International Journal of Research in Business & Social Science, 11(4), 414–420. <u>https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v11i4.1776</u>
- Myerson, P. (2012). *Lean supply chain and logistics management*. The McGraw Hill Companies.
- Nagy, S. R., & Nguyen, H. (2021). Asymmetric interdependence and the selective diversification of supply chains. *Journal of Contemporary Eastern Asia*, 20(2), 237–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.17477/jcea.2021.20.2.237</u>
- Nagy-Bota, S., & Moldovan, L. (2022). Key differences and common aspects of logistics and supply chain management. *Acta Marisiensis, Seria Technologica, 19*(1), 42–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/amset-2022-0008</u>
- Nassaji, H. (2020). Good qualitative research. *Language Teaching Research*, 24(4), 427–431. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168820941288

- Netland, T. H. (2016). Critical success factors for implementing lean production: The effect of contingencies. *International Journal of Production Research*, 54(8), 2433–2448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2015.1096976</u>
- Nilmanat, K., & Kurniawan, T. (2021). The quest in case study research. *Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research*, 25(1), 1–6.
- Orsini, S., Padel, S., Gambelli, D., Lernoud, J., Sanders, J., Solfanelli, F., Stolze, M.,
 Willer, H., & Zanoli, R. (2019). Beyond "mainstream" and "alternative" in organic food supply chains: Empirical examples of added value distribution from eight European countries. *British Food Journal*, *122*(3), 798–812.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-07-2019-0508
- Paparini, S., Green, J., Papoutsi, C., Murdoch, J., Patticrew, M., Greenhalgh, T., Hanckel, B., & Shaw, S. (2020). Case study research for better evaluations of complex interventions: Rationale and challenges. *BMC Medicine*, *18*(1), 301–308. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-020-01777-6
- Patidar, S., Shukla, A. C., & Sukhwani, V. K. (2022). Food supply chain management (FSCM): A structured literature review and future research agenda. *Journal of Advances in Management Research*, 19(2), 272–299.
- Pawlewicz, A. (2020). Change of price premiums trend for organic food products: The example of the polish egg market. *Agriculture*, *10*(35), 1–22.

https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture10020035

- Pearse, N. (2021). Guidelines for theory development using qualitative research approaches. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 19(2), 95–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.34190/ejbrm.19.2.2512</u>
- Pfeffer, J., & Salancik, G. R. (1978). *The external control of organizations*. Harper & Row.
- Pfeffer, J., & Salancik, G. R. (2003). *The external control of organizations: a resource dependence perspective*. Stanford Business Books.
- Pita Fernandez, S., & Pertegas Diaz, S. (2002). Investigacion cuantitativa y cualitativa. *Cad Aten Primaria*, 9(1), 76–78.
- Price, H. E., & Smith, C. (2021). Procedures for reliable cultural model analysis using semi-structured interviews. *Field Methods*, 33(2), 185–201. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X20982725
- Pu, X., Wang, Z., & Chan, F. T. S. (2020). Adoption of electronic supply chain management systems: The mediation role of information sharing. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 120(11), 1977–1999.

https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-06-2019-0346

- Rahman, M. S. (2016). The advantages and disadvantages of using qualitative and quantitative approaches and methods in language "Testing and assessment" research: A literature review.
- Rashid, Y., Rashid, A., Warraich, M. A., Sabir, S. S., & Waseem, A. (2019). Case study method: A step-by-step guide for business researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919862424</u>

- Reganold, J. P., & Wachter, J. M. (2016). Organic agriculture in the twenty-first century. *Nature Plants*, 2(2), 15221–15228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nplants.2015.221</u>
- Roth, W. M., & von Unger, H. (2018). Current perspectives on research ethics in qualitative research. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 19(3), 798–809. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3155
- Saad, N. A., Elgazzar, S., & Mlaker Kac, S. (2022). Linking supply chain management practices to customer relationship management objectives: A proposed framework. *Business: Theory and Practice*, 23(1), 154–164. <u>https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2022.15475</u>
- Saglam, Y. C., Cankaya, S. Y., Golgeci, I., Sezen, B., & Zaim, S. (2022). The role of communication quality, relational commitment, and reciprocity in building supply chain resilience: A social exchange theory perspective. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review, 167*, 102936.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2022.102936

Sarkar, M., & Chung, B. D. (2020). Flexible work-in-process production system in supply chain management under quality improvement. *International Journal of Production Research*, 58(13), 3821–3838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1634851</u>

Sarvar, Z., Rahmani, M., & Govindan, K. (2018). A sustainable supply chain for organic, conventional agro-food products: The role of demand substitution, climate change and public health. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 194, 564–583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.04.118

- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Pearson Education.
- Schlatter, B., TravnicekWiller, J. H., & Lernoud, J. (2020). Organic agriculture
 worldwide: Current statistics. H. Willer, B. Schlatter, J. Travnicek, L. Kemper, &
 Lernoud, J. (Eds.), *The world of organic agriculture. Statistics and emerging trends 2020.* (pp. 31-69). FiBL, Frick and IFOAM Organic International.
- Schwandt, T. A., & Gates, E. F. (2017). Case study methodology. In N. K. Denzin, & Y.
 S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (5th ed.). SAGE
 Publishing.
- Serra-Aracil, X., Cano, M. L., & Targarona, E. (2022). Quantitative and qualitative research in surgery. *Cirugia Espanola*, 100(5), 306–308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cireng.2022.04.007</u>
- Sgroi, F., & Sciancalepore, V. D. (2022). Dynamics of structural change in agriculture, transaction cost theory and market efficiency: The case of cultivation contracts between agricultural enterprises and the food industry. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Research, 10*, 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jafr.2022.100396</u>
- Shahriari, P., & Rasuli, B. (2020). No study is ever perfectly flawless: Exploring research limitations in theses and dissertations of Iranian higher education institutes.
 Iranian Journal of Information Processing & Management, 36(1), 95–126.
- Shashi, K., Kottala, S. Y., & Singh, R. (2015). A review of sustainability, deterrents, personal values, attitudes and purchase intentions in the organic food supply

chain. *Pacific Science Review B: Humanities and Social Sciences*, 1(3), 114–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psrb.2016.09.003

- Sherer, P. D., Suddaby, R., & Coquet, M. R. (2019). Does resource diversity confer organizational autonomy in arts organizations? Extending resource dependency theory. *The Journal of Arts Management, Law, and Society, 49*(4), 224–241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10632921.2018.1559265</u>
- Shufutinsky, A., DePorres, D., Long, B., & Sibel, J. (2020). Shock leadership development for modern era of pandemic management and preparedness. *The International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 13(1), 20–42.
- Singh, A., & Misra, S. C. (2022). Ordering drivers of green supply chain management practices in Indian construction industry: An impact assessment framework. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 39*(8), 1869–1895. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-03-2019-0076</u>
- Soh, S. L. H., Lane, J., & Tan, C. W. (2020). Researcher as instrument: A critical reflection using nominal group technique for content development of a new patient-reported outcome measure. *International Practice Development Journal*, 10(2), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.19043/ijdj.102.010
- Solarz, K., Raftowicz, M., Kachniarz, M., & Dradrach, A. (2023). Back to locality?
 Demand potential analysis for short food supply chains. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(4), 3641.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20043641

- Sowe, S. (2019). Considering football teams from a resource dependency theory perspective. *Journal of Tourism, Hospitality and Sports, 43*(1), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.7176/JTHS/43-01</u>
- Srinieng, S., & Thapa, G. B. (2018). Consumers' perception of environmental and health benefits, and consumption of organic vegetables in Bangkok. *Agricultural and Food Economics*, 6(5), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40100-018-0100-x</u>
- Stahl, N. A., & King, J. R. (2020). Expanding approaches for research: Understanding and using trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 44(1), 26–28.
- Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Sage Publications.
- Stake, R. E. (2006). *Multiple case study analysis*. The Guilford Press.
- Suh, J. (2021). Literature content analysis: Formulating different marketing plan between wholesalers and retailers supervision system. *Journal of Distribution Science*, 19(8), 91–100. <u>https://doi.org/10.15722/jds.19.8.202108.91</u>
- Sutinen, U.-M., & Narvanen, E. (2022). Constructing the food waste issue on social media: A discursive social marketing approach. *Journal of Marketing Management, 38*(3-4), 219–247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0267257X.2021.1966077</u>
- Sutton, T., Devine, R. A., Lamont, B. T., & Holmes, R. M. (2021). Resource dependence, uncertainty, and the allocation of corporate political activity across multiple jurisdictions. *Academy of Management Journal*, 64(1), 38–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2017.1258</u>

- Taguchi, N. (2018). Description and explanation of pragmatic development: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods research. *System*, 75, 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.010
- Takahashi, A. R. W., & Araujo, L. (2020). Case study research: Opening up research opportunities. *RAUSP Management Journal*, 55(1), 100–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/RAUSP-05-2019-0109</u>
- Teryokhin, S., & Hannas, G. (2018). Impact of supplier-specific investments in interorganisational information systems on strategic electronic coordination: The moderation effect of buyer dependence. *Engineering Management in Production and Services, 10*(1), 7–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/emj-2018-0001</u>
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–162. <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022</u>
- Tracy, S. J. (2020). Qualitative research methods: Collecting evidence, crafting analysis, communicating impact. John Wiley & Sons.
- Tripathy, N. (2021). Reverse the lens, set focus on the followers: A theoretical framework of resource dependence, upward influence, and leadership. *Frontiers* in Psychology, 12, 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.699340</u>
- Tsui, J. (2019). Supply chains are going green in these six ways. Supply Chain Brain. <u>https://www.supplychainbrain.com/blogs/1-think-tank/post/30512-six-ways-that-</u> <u>supply-chains-are-turning-to-green-solutions</u>

- Tutelman, P. R., & Webster, F. (2020). Qualitative research and pain: Current controversies and future directions. *Canadian Journal of Pain*, 4(3), 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/24740527.2020.1809201</u>
- U. S. Department of Agriculture. (n.d.a). USDA *certified organic: Becoming certified organic*. Agricultural Marketing Service.

https://www.ams.usda.gov/services/organic-certification/becoming-certified

U. S. Department of Agriculture. (n.d.b). USDA certified organic: Understanding the basics. Agricultural Marketing

Service.https://www.ams.usda.gov/services/organic-certification/organic-basics

- U. S. Department of Agriculture. (2021.) USDA market news. Agricultural Marketing Service.<u>https://www.ams.usda.gov/market-news/custom-reports</u>
- U.S. Office for Human Research Protection (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical* principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. <u>https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/index.html</u>
- Verd, J. M., Barranco, O., & Lozares, C. (2021). Blending the focused ethnographic method and case study research: Implications regarding case selection and generalization of results. *Field Methods*, 33(1), 25–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X20932495</u>
- Vieira, L. M., De Barcellos, M. D., Hoppe, A., & Da Silva, S. B. (2013). An analysis of value in an organic food supply chain. *British Food Journal*, 115(10), 1451–1472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-06-2011-0160</u>

Vigar, V., Myers, S., Oliver, C., Arellano, J., Robinson, S., & Leifert, C. (2020). A systematic review of organic versus conventional food consumption: Is there a measurable benefit on human health? *Nutrients, 12*(1), 7-39.

https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12010007

- Waibel, S., Vargas, I., Aller, M. B., Gusmao, R., Henao, D., & Vazquez, M. L. (2015).
 The performance of integrated health care networks in the continuity of care: A qualitative multiple case study of COPD patients. *International Journal of Integrated Care*, 15(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/ijic.1527</u>
- Wang, Y., Zhu, Z., & Chu, F. (2017). Organic vs. non-organic food products: Credence and price competition. *Sustainability*, 9(4), 545–568. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9040545
- Weller, S. C., Vickers, B., Bernard, H. R., Blackburn, A. M., Borgatti, S., Gravlee, C. C., & Johnson, J. C. (2018). Open-ended interview questions and saturation. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(6), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198606</u>
- Williamson, O. (1979). Transaction cost economics: The governance of contractual relations. *Journal of Law and Economics*, 22(2), 233–261. https://doi.org/10.1086/466942

Witte, E. H., Stanciu, A., & Zenker, F. (2022). Predicted as observed? How to identify empirically adequate theoretical constructs. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.980261

Wong, L. W., Tan, G. W. H., Lee, V. H., Ooi, K. B., & Sohal, A. (2020). Unearthing the determinants of blockchain adoption in supply chain management. *International* Journal of Production Research, 58(7), 2100–2123.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2020.1730463

- Xiao, C., Petkova, B., Molleman, E., & van der Vaart, T. (2019). Technology uncertainty in supply chains and supplier involvement: The role of resource dependence. *Supply Chain Management*, 24(6), 697–709. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-10-2017-0334</u>
- Xie, H., Wei, X., Peng, X., & Prybutok, V. (2022). The evolution of supply chain management as measured with the Baldridge excellence framework. *Quality Management Journal*, 29(4), 234–247.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10686967.2022.2112927

- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 134–152.
- Yeh, W. C., Tseng, M. H., & Lee, C. C. (2020). The relationship between transaction costs, resource dependency, social networks, partnerships, and organizational performance in the industrial waste management industry. *Journal of Statistics* and Management Systems, 21(3), 417–454.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09720510.2018.1427030

- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.). SAGE.
- Zahle, J. (2019). Data, epistemic values, and multiple methods in case study research.
 Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part A, 78, 32–39.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.shpsa.2018.11.005

Zhong, R., Xu, X., & Wang, L. (2017). Food supply chain management: Systems, implementations, and future research. *Industrial Management and Data Systems*, 117(9), 2085–2114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-09-2016-0391</u>
Appendix A: Interview Protocol

- 1. Reading opening statement: Thank you for agreeing to participate in this study and allowing me to interview you. Your participation in this study on organic food supply chain strategies is important to further understanding this topic. You had an opportunity to read about this study before the interview and understand that your participation is voluntary. You may stop at any time. I will be recording this interview and taking notes. I will provide my interpretation of the interview for your approval and to ensure the content is accurate. Any information obtain for this interview and process will be completely anonymous. Do you have any questions?
- 2. Present consent form and answer any questions on participant's concerns.
- 3. Obtain signature and provide a copy of the Informed Consent Form to the participant. Retain a copy for my files.
- 4. Turn on recording device and note the date and time.
- 5. Ask semistructured interview questions:
 - a. What strategies do you use that contribute to an increase in the price of organic food production costs when compared to conventional food production costs?
 - b. What transportation strategies have you implemented to minimize the supply chain process?
 - c. What process of the supply chain have you eliminated to increase efficiency?
 - d. What were the key barriers you faced in creating a more efficient supply chain?
 - e. How did you overcome the key challenges that you faced in producing a more efficient supply chain?
 - f. How do you assess the effectiveness of the strategies you use to reduce organic food prices?
 - g. What additional information can you provide on the strategies you have employed to reduce organic food production costs?
- 6. End interview by discussing member checking with the participant and scheduling a time for the follow-up member checking interview.
- 7. Thank the participant for their time and cooperation.
- 8. Confirm participation contact information
- 9. Perform member checking protocol.
- 10. Transcribe the interview,
- 11. Review and interpret the interview transcript.
- 12. Synthesize response into a summary paragraph.
- 13. Provide a copy of the summary and notes to the participate via email.
- 14. Conduct member checking follow-up interview to discuss and clarify responses.
- 15. End protocol.

Appendix B: Copyright Approval

November 18, 2022

Samir Mili & Imen Arfa

Hi:

I am completing a doctoral dissertation at Walden University titled "Organic Food Supply Chain Efficiency Strategies to Reduce Costs for Local Food Businesses." I would like your permission to reprint in my dissertation excerpts from the following:

Mili, S., & Arfa, I. (2020). Uncovering value creation factors in organic food supply chains. *International Journal on Food Systems Dynamics*, *11*(5), 503–521. <u>https://doi.org/10.18461/ijfsd.v11i5.70</u>

The excerpts to be reproduced are:

Figure 4 illustrates a business model framework consisting of resources, partners, activities, customers, and channels, that has been successful in value creation processes that promote long-lasting economic, social, and cultural impacts (Mili & Arfa, 2020).

Figure 4

Business Model Framework



Note. The business model framework for value creation.

The requested permission extends to any future revisions and editions of my dissertation, including non-exclusive world rights in all languages, and to the prospective publication of my dissertation by ProQuest through its ProQuest® Dissertation Publishing business. ProQuest may produce and sell copies of my dissertation on demand and may make my dissertation available for free internet download at my request. These rights will in no way restrict republication of the material in any other form by you or by others authorized by you. Your signing of this letter will also confirm that you own the copyright to the above- described material.

If these arrangements meet with your approval, please sign this letter where indicated below and return it to me by email. Thank you so much!

Sincerely,

Tonya K. Adair

PERMISSION GRANTED FOR THE USE REQUESTED ABOVE:



Samir Mili

Date: 22 November 2022

21

Imen Arfa

Date: 21 November 2022